







Contents

1.	Executive Summary	2
2.	Introduction: segmentation and public formation	8
	i. The Context for this review	8
	ii. Tracking segmentation in practice	10
	iii. Market segmentation	11
3.	Issues in market segmentation	15
	i. Research on segmentation in management studies	15
	ii. Research on segmentation in critical social science	19
4.	Segmentation and public value	23
	i. Applying segmentation to public issues	23
	ii. Using market segmentation to deliver 'Public Value'	30
5.	Segmentation in public engagement practice	34
	i. Segmentation and social marketing	35
	ii. Segmentation in arts, culture, and heritage sectors	46
	iii. Segmentation in campaigning	51
6.	Conclusion: public segmentation and higher education	56
	i. From market segmentation to segmenting publics	56
	ii. What sort of segmentation for what sort of public engagement?	58
	iii. Challenges of using segmentation for public engagement in Higher	
	Education	60
7	References and resources	62

1. Executive Summary

Segmenting publics

This research synthesis was commissioned by the National Co-ordinating Centre for Public Engagement (NCCPE) and the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) to examine audience segmentation methods and tools in the area of public engagement.

Highlights include:

- Identifying existing academic and professional literature on the use of segmentation methods in public engagement activities, including academic management and marketing studies, critical social science, and social marketing; and professional and 'grey' literatures on the use of segmentation in a variety of fields of public engagement activity.
- Examples of sectors currently using market segmentation for public engagement purposes which this Research Synthesis discusses include social marketing; public relations; environmental communication; science communication; public services; arts, culture and heritage; visitor studies; charity and non-profit marketing; campaigning; development communication.
- An outline of the key debates concerning the use of segmentation in public engagement activities. These include the shift towards using sophisticated motivational variables to identify segments; the theory/practice divide in academic literature on segmentation; and the importance of professional cultures and organisational capacities in explaining the proliferation and application of segmentation methods.
- Emerging trends in academic and non-academic discussions of segmentation and public engagement, including the importance of reflecting on the ethics of segmentation methods, the need for better evaluation of segmentation exercises, and the tensions between using segmentation to 'nudge' people towards change or using segmentation to engage people in 'talk' about issues and controversies.
- Identifying three organisational imperatives which drive the application of segmentation methods in public engagement contexts. Each of these imperatives has emerged in a wider context in which public engagement has become an increasingly professionalised field: concerns over accountability; concerns over efficiency; concerns over legitimacy.
- Each of these three imperatives is operative in the Higher Education sector. Identifying the different ways in which segmentation tools have been deployed as part of public engagement strategies to address these concerns in other sectors is relevant to assessing potentials and limitations of segmentation for public engagement benefit in higher education.
- The imperatives driving the application and translation of segmentation to public engagement issues has generated three fields of professional and practical innovation and theoretical reflection.

- Segmentation tools have been used as part of efforts to provide better understandings of and responses to public opinion. Segmentation tools are used as one aspect of increasingly sophisticated methodologies of audience insight and public engagement, combining quantitative and statistical analysis with qualitative experiments in deliberative dialogue and public participation.
- Segmentation tools are increasingly used in initiatives to understand human behaviour and encourage behaviour change. This field is led by policy makers and campaigning charities and NGOs, particularly in fields of public health and sustainability, and seeks to better understand how individual's behaviour can be influenced to contribute to aggregate changes for public benefit.
- Segmentation tools are used as part of efforts to generate better understandings of informal learning processes upon which successful engagement depends. This application is evident in cultural fields such as the Museums, Libraries, and Archives sector, and in research on visitor engagement in audience studies, in which an emphasis on the cultural and emotional dynamics of identification and engagement is supplementing cognitive understandings of learning.

Segmentation and public formation – findings

- There is currently no academic synthesis of the research and practice on the use of segmentation tools across the full range of public engagement activities.
- There is an absence of research into the *processes of translation* through which market segmentation is applied and transformed in public engagement contexts.
- A key driver in the proliferation of segmentation tools beyond commercial settings is the development of technically advanced systems of Customer Relationship Management and related data-mining systems, and the associated development of more dynamic models of the *motivations* of the subjects of both market exchange and public engagement activities.
- Segmenting methods can be used for discriminatory or diversifying purposes, both of which under certain circumstances can be consistent with public interest values.
- Segmentation methods can be deployed as part of engagement initiatives which aim to inform behaviour change or to inform deliberative engagement.
- Segmentation methods are instrumental to *finding* out about publics and to processes of *making* publics.
- The use of segmentation methods raises a range of ethical issues which are relevant to public engagement practitioners.

Issues in market segmentation - findings

- Recent academic research on market segmentation focuses on the practice of 'doing market segmentation'.
- Conceptualisations of the disjuncture between the theory and practice of segmentation no longer assume that the problem is simply one of barriers and impediments to diffusion.
- This research brings to light the importance of organisational cultures in shaping the outcomes of segmentation exercises.
- A significant issue arising from this field is the importance of reflecting on the theoretical assumptions and models which are used to inform data collection and data analysis; in so far as these provide the explanatory shape generated by descriptive statistical methodologies such as cluster analysis used in 'offthe-shelf' segmentation systems.
- There is no equivalent body of academic research using qualitative methodologies to assess the practices of market segmentation in public engagement activities.
- These findings from management studies and marketing theory are relevant
 in so far as discussion of market segmentation in public engagement contexts
 often tends to focus on the choice of appropriate variables; tends to assume
 the benefits of applying segmentation methods; and is proliferating in the
 absence of sustained research assessing the organisational dynamics of
 successful segmentation activities in public engagement contexts.
- Critical social science emphases the processes of 'construction' through which
 publics are made by segmentation and targeting practices. This tradition
 highlights a set of ethical issues arising from the application of segmentation
 methods in public engagement activities.
- There is little existing research examining the issues of ethics, evaluation, and reputational risk involved in organisations charged with various public responsibilities undertaking segmentation exercises.

Segmentation and public value - findings

- Segmentation is used in the commercial sector, to target ethical consumers and grow markets for sustainable products.
- Segmentation is used by a variety of government and non-government agencies to develop effective communications strategies around various sustainability campaigns.
- In terms of public engagement, both of these fields focus on processes of *informing* people, with the objective of changing people's behaviour in terms of purchasing decisions or shifting them to adopt new practices.
- There is a tension in using segmentation methods to divide publics up into distinct groups in the name of delivering 'public value', which is meant to be inclusive, collectively shared, or universal.

- There is a tension in using segmenting to determine what publics 'want' and organisational responsibilities to provide services that meet individual, community, and public 'needs'.
- There is a tension between using segmentation methods as part of behaviour change initiatives and using segmentation methods as part of more deliberative strategies of engagement.
- Segmentation methods can used in strategies aimed at changing behaviour in relation to pre-established objectives, and in strategies which aim to engage people in the definition of issues and problems as well.
- There is little existing research examining the conceptual, methodological, and practical similarities and differences between segmenting markets and segmenting publics.

Segmentation in public engagement practice – findings

- Academic research in particular fields informs the definition of variables used in segmentation exercises, and is used to evaluate the success of segmentation exercises in helping to meet public engagement objectives.
- Segmentation methods can be used in public engagement activities as part of broader strategic rationales, including behaviour change, visitor engagement, campaigning, and planning of communications.
- Investigating the strategic rationalities and purposes of public engagement that segmentation methods have been used to support can provide useful analogies for the different strategic purposes driving debates about public engagement and higher education.
- The use of segmentation models in public engagement activities involves complex processes of data gathering and analysis.
- The use of segmentation methods is just one part of broader strategies of generating policies, applying techniques, and designing effective interventions.
- There is an identifiable shift away from thinking about public engagement in terms of a 'deficit model' aimed at better processes of informing people about issues and choices.
- Segmentation methods are used differently in relation to fields in which the aim is to inform people about practices they might adopt in support of issues around which there is a broad positive consensus, compared to fields in which issues and objectives are either more complex or contentious, where there is likely to be more emphasis on deliberation and consultation.
- While the aim of the segmentation methods is to generate relatively stable images of public attitudes and values, the increasing emphasis on 'motivational' factors indicates that segmentation methods are primarily deployed to 'generate movement': to change people's attitudes, increase public support, alter behaviour, and overcome barriers and impediments.
- Segmentation methods are not merely 'descriptive' devices; they are normative in the sense that their design and application is always shaped by the broader purposes of public engagement strategies of which they are one aspect.

- Across different fields of public engagement, the methodological and analytical emphasis in segmentation exercise is increasingly oriented towards the development of dynamic, motivational variables to generate segments.
- There is relatively little academic research which seeks to understand the proliferation of segmentation methods in public engagement contexts.
- There is little academic research comparable to that emerging in management studies and marketing theory which seeks to understand the practice of segmentation in public engagement contexts.
- There is an absence of research on the role and potential of segmentation methods in supporting the public engagement objectives of the higher education sector.

Conclusion: public segmentation and higher education

This Research Synthesis provides resources for assessing the ways in which segmentation tools might be used to enhance the various activities through which models of public engagement in higher education are implemented – activities that range from informing, to consulting, to collaborating.

Understanding the opinions, values, and motivations of members of the public is a crucial feature of successful engagement. Segmentation methods can offer potential resources to help understand the complex set of interests and attitudes that the public have towards higher education.

There exist a number of existing segmentations which address many of the areas of activity found in Universities and HEIs. These include segmentations which inform strategic planning of communications; segmentations which inform the design of collaborative engagement activities by Museums, Galleries, and Libraries; and segmentations that are used to identify under-represented users and consumers.

Segmentation is, on its own, only a tool, used in different ways in different contexts. The broader strategic rationale shaping the application and design of segmentation methods is a crucial factor in determining the utility of segmentation tools.

There are four issues of particular importance which emerge from the synthesis of research on segmentation in other fields which are of relevance to the higher education sector:

- Segmentation exercises are costly and technically complex. Undertaking segmentations therefore requires significant commitment of financial and professional resources by HEIs; the appropriate interpretation, analysis, and application of segmentation exercises also require high levels of professional capacity and expertise
- 2. Undertaking a segmentation exercise has implications for the internal organisational operations of HEIs, not only for how they engage with external publics and stakeholders
- 3. Segmentation tools are adopted to inform interventions of various sorts, and superficially to differentiate and sometime discriminate between how groups of people are addressed and engaged.

4. For HEIs, the ethical issues and reputational risks which have been identified in this Research Synthesis as endemic to the application of segmentation methods for public purposes are particularly relevant.

There are various areas of possible future research into segmentation in public engagement including:

- how and why segmentation methods are translated across policy areas and professional fields is required.
- research into the practices of 'doing segmentation' in public engagement contexts is required, equivalent to leading-edge research on the practice of segmentation in commercial settings undertaken in management studies and marketing theory.
- research, assessment, and evaluation of the extent of the use of segmentation in HEIs are required.
- research and evaluation into the conceptual and methodological issues involved in using segmentation tools in public engagement activities is required, including research on the use and analysis of different forms of data and the implications of digitalization for the generation of sophisticated segmentations of motivations and values.
- research into how the applications of segmentations in public engagement activities are evaluated in practice is required.

2. Introduction: segmentation and public formation

i. The context for this review

This Research Synthesis provides an overview of the principles and imperatives behind the increasing use of market segmentation tools for public engagement purposes. It seeks to outline the key issues raised by applying techniques and methodologies developed in for-profit commercial sectors to non-profit and public activities. *Market segmentation* is a practice of dividing markets up into homogenous 'segments' of consumers or customers. The members of any given segment are assumed to respond to communication or to behave in the same way. In marketing theory, segmentation is one step in a broader process which includes the targeting of messages or advertising campaigns to specific segments.

There is currently no existing overview of the proliferation of segmentation methods in public engagement activities. This Research Synthesis fills this gap by analysing the issues raised when methods and technologies developed in commercial settings of marketing and public relations are translated to the public sector, to the third sector, and to non-profit sectors. This Research Synthesis provides a review of the use of market segmentation technologies and other segmentation methods for the purposes of public engagement, with the aim of identifying the key issues that are raised when considering the value of deploying these tools in Higher Education contexts.

The Research Synthesis is the outcome of a review of research commissioned by the National Co-ordinating Centre for Public Engagement (NCCPE) and the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) in 2010. The Research Synthesis is not intended as a 'How to' guide to the use and application of segmentation methods.¹ Rather, it provides an analysis of the issues that arise from the use of segmentation methods in various sectors in which imperatives of public engagement are now strongly felt, and which in different ways might be considered to be analogous to the Higher Education sector.

This Research Synthesis locates the deployment of segmentation tools in this wide range of contexts in the changing dynamics of various 'public' issues, including public health, development aid, environmental issues, climate change, 'personalisation' agendas, and public service reform. The Research Synthesis identifies three organisational imperatives which drive the application of segmentation methods in public engagement contexts. Each of these imperatives has emerged in a wider context in which public engagement has become an increasingly professionalised field:

- 1. Concerns over *accountability*, driven by demands that institutions in receipt of public funding or other support, or with clearly defined public roles, should be more open, responsive, and transparent.
- 2. Concerns over *efficiency*, driven by the widely held belief that established approaches to public communication have not been working effectively, as well as by wider concerns to improve the efficiency of public organisations in delivering their publicly mandated remit and services.

3. Concerns over *legitimacy*, driven by a perception that institutions are vulnerable to losing touch with the cares and needs of the customers, clients, or audiences upon whose support they depend.

An assumption of this Research Synthesis is that each of these three imperatives is operative in the Higher Education sector, given the complexity of the contemporary University as a public actor. Therefore, identifying the different ways in which segmentation tools have been deployed as part of public engagement strategies to address these concerns in other sectors is relevant to assessing potentials and limitations of segmentation for public engagement benefit in higher education.

Broadly speaking, each of these three concerns or imperatives driving the application and translation of segmentation to public engagement issues has generated three fields of professional and practical innovation and theoretical reflection:

- In response to accountability imperatives, segmentation tools have been used as part of efforts to provide better understandings of and responses to public opinion. Segmentation tools are used as one aspect of increasingly sophisticated methodologies of audience insight and public engagement, combining quantitative and statistical analysis with qualitative experiments in deliberative dialogue and public participation.
- 2. In response to efficiency imperatives, segmentation tools are increasingly used in initiatives to *understand human behaviour and encourage* behaviour change. This field is led by policy makers and campaigning charities and NGOs, particularly in fields of public health and sustainability, and seeks to better understand how individual's behaviour can be influenced to contribute to aggregate changes for public benefit.²
- 3. In response to legitimacy imperatives, segmentation tools are used as part of efforts to generate *better understandings of informal learning processes* upon which successful engagement depends. This application is evident in cultural fields such as the Museums, Libraries, and Archives sector, and in research on visitor engagement in audience studies, in which an emphasis on the cultural and emotional dynamics of identification and engagement is supplementing cognitive understandings of learning.

Examples of sectors currently using market segmentation for public engagement purposes which this Research Synthesis discusses include social marketing; public relations; environmental communication; science communication; public services; arts, culture and heritage; visitor studies; charity and non-profit marketing; campaigning; development communication. In each of these sectors, different combinations of these three sets of imperatives and responses can be identified.

In elaborating on the different fields and different purposes in which segmentation tools are used, this Research Synthesis identifies a recurring tension between the use of segmentation in engagement projects shaped by ideas of behaviour change and 'nudging' people to alter their practices on the one hand, and the use of segmentation as part of more broadly 'dialogic' or 'deliberative' styles of public engagement.

While there is an extensive academic literature on market segmentation in marketing theory and management studies, there is no existing synthesis of academic research on the proliferation of segmentation methods in public engagement activities. In light of this gap, this Research Synthesis has three aims:

- 1. It identifies and synthesises the literature on segmentation across a range of academic fields;
- 2. It outlines the nature of the debates about the use of segmentation in both academic and non-academic fields;
- 3. It highlights emerging trends and issues in both academic and non-academic fields.

In addressing these aims, the Research Synthesis seeks to establish an agenda for further empirical and theoretical research into understanding, assessing, and evaluating the proliferation of segmentation methods in various fields of public life.

ii. Tracking segmentation in practice

The Research Synthesis is based on a critical review of publicly available materials, including academic literatures, marketing literatures, and government and non-governmental publications. It also includes selective review of 'grey' literature from government and non-governmental organizations and charities. The Research Synthesis is based primarily on desk-based research, including online searches, use of ISI web-based search resources, supplemented by review of materials available in the British Library. This research was supplemented by consultation by the authors with academic and non-academic networks connected to the Publics Research Programme in the Open University's Centre for Citizenship, Identities and Governance (CCIG).³

Methodologically, the Research Synthesis adopts a 'genealogical' approach to making sense of the proliferation of segmentation methods across different fields of public engagement. This approach seeks to understand where the segmentation methods used in contemporary public engagement activities come from, and in particular to ask what *problematizations* the application of segmentation methods are meant to provide responses to.⁴ It is this approach that leads us to focus on the widespread adoption of segmentation methods as one response to perceived challenges faced by organisations of accountability, efficiency and legitimacy.

The genealogical approach we adopt here builds on a conceptual framework developed as one outcome of an ESRC Research Seminar Series on *Emergent Publics* (2008-2010).⁵ This framework focuses on identifying the *subjects* of public practices – for example, whether publics are understood as singular or fragmented, or as consisting of consumers or citizens; and the *mediums* of public practices – for example, whether public practices take place in contained, physical spaces (like 'the street' or in institutions such as schools, libraries, or museums) or are distributed across various mediated spaces (television, internet, etc.).⁶ Both of these issues are pertinent to understanding the widespread adoption of segmentation methods in public engagement activities.

An important feature of this analysis is the understanding of the forms of identification, differentiation, and exclusion involved in processes of public formation.⁷ Thus this Synthesis identifies various subjects of 'the public' in uses of segmentation methods: sometimes the public is figured as 'customers', sometimes as 'citizens', or 'patrons', or 'visitors', or 'audiences'.

Likewise, segmentation methods are deployed as part of different styles of mediated public communication: sometimes to inform forms of engagement aimed at designing or 'nudging' people to new forms of behaviour; sometimes to inform strategies to engage people in more or less deliberative styles of activity.

The different types of subjects and mediums of public engagement activity for which segmentation methods are used are in turn, then, closely related to different *objects* of public practice: the use of segmentation in fields concerned with changing environmentally unsustainable behaviour, for example, is markedly different from uses in so-called community social marketing or in values-oriented styles of campaigning seeking to elicit public opinions and perspectives into the design of governmental policies or non-governmental programmes.

iii. Market segmentation

Defining market segmentation

Understanding the role of segmentation tools in public engagement requires an appreciation of the theory and practice of market segmentation in commercial settings. While public segmentation is not necessarily a direct application of market segmentation methods, many of the techniques, assumptions, and strategic understandings of market segmentation are evident in the proliferation of segmentation tools in various public fields.

Market segmentation, at its simplest, is a practice of dividing markets up into homogenous 'segments' of consumers or customers. The members of any given segment are assumed to respond to communication or to behave in the same way. Segmentation is, then, in marketing theory, a step in a broader process which includes the *targeting* of messages or advertising campaigns to specific segments. As such, segmentation is a fundamental dimension of marketing practice, and has been for half a century at least. Importantly, in the commercial sector, market segmentation is based on the principle that firms should focus their attention on those groups of customers whose needs or desires they are best able to supply or satisfy with their offer.

In short, in this field, segmentation is explicitly *discriminatory*, in the sense that it is oriented by the imperative to divide a population up and to differentially supply different segments. This feature of segmentation methods is relevant for understanding the translation of segmentation in public engagement, where very often the imperative is not to divide in order to discriminate, but to recognize *diversity* in order to enhance inclusiveness. The tension between segmentation for discriminatory purposes and diversifying purposes is therefore central to understanding the translation of market segmentation into non-commercial contexts of public engagement.

Marketing theories of segmentation

Segmentation is both a long-established principle of marketing strategy, and also a topic of increased attention in recent debates and research in marketing studies. The Academy of Marketing pinpoints the potential for the application of marketing knowledge about segmentation to non-commercial sectors:

"The scope for market segmentation to cross disciplinary boundaries is also increasing. This is reflected in new applications in social marketing and in the use of profiling techniques, for example, in relation to antimoney laundering, healthy eating programmes and the securitisation of consumer data."

In the context of this movement of segmentation from fields of marketing practice and marketing theory to other sectors, it is important to define some key characteristics of segmentation methods:

- Segmentation involves dividing of markets into discrete sub-sets characterised by particular tastes or values, with the express purpose of treating those sub-sets differently. Segmentation is defined as "the process of dividing customers up into groups (or segments) based on their product or service usage, buying behaviour, life style, location and so on";
- In turn, segmentation techniques are "techniques for grouping customers in both consumer markets and organisational, industrial or business markets"; 9 and
- Segmenting markets is intimately related to *targeting* different groups with different types of communication.

In marketing studies¹⁰, segmentation is therefore related to a broader repertoire of competitive strategies aimed at identifying potentially profitable market segments:¹¹

"Businesses are successfully using market segmentation to better reach profitable customers; libraries are successfully using market segmentation to better reach prospective underserved and underprivileged patrons. [...] Smart enterprises use segmentation to continually monitor, quantify, and qualify the changing customer, in part to stay ahead of the competition. Segmentation data provides organizations with information to develop timely goods and services that profitably serve customers, thereby sustaining the organization's growth and ability to compete with the development of new products and services." ¹²

As one facet of new systems of *Customer Relationship Management* (CRM), segmentation methods are premised on the assumption that not all customers are equally profitable, actually or potentially, to a business.¹³ Segmentation and targeting are meant to enhance the competitive advantage of a business; are based on the principle that a business cannot be all things to all people, and that 'some customers are not worth having'; and that the customers worth developing relationships with are in the most profitable segments.¹⁴

As part of CRM, segmentation methods are part of a broader trend for organisations to make use of new digital informational technologies to generate strategically useful data and knowledge about their customers, clients and constituencies. Most segmentation systems used in the commercial sector and in public engagement activities are so-called 'off the shelf' – they are provided by commercial companies with appropriate expertise, often specializing in particular fields, such as public health or financial services. Amongst the leading providers of such systems are companies such as Accenture, TNS, and The Futures Company. Amongst the most widely used systems are the Tapestry segmentation provided by ESRI, and MOSAIC, provided by Experian. These sorts of segmentation systems combine multiple variables, are based on complex mathematical modelling principles, and often incorporate advanced techniques of spatial data analysis. Given the technical complexity and sophistication of segmentation tools, it is important to emphasise three issues:

- 1. The adoption of segmentation methods is normally undertaken for clearly defined strategic purposes;
- 2. Segmentations can be expensive and time-consuming; and
- 3. Segmentations normally involve significant reconfigurations of the internal and external orientations of organisations.

The basic principle behind the use of market segmentation methods in public engagement activities is that each segment or sub-group of a total population will respond to an 'address' in a similar fashion. In public engagement contexts, this

assumption can inform different strategic projects. The idea that people respond differently might be important in developing better targeting of services on those most 'in need', for example. In this case, the discriminatory deployment of segmentation methods remains important, without necessarily running counter to public interest principles of efficiency. Alternatively, the same idea can be used to develop organisational strategies that are alert to a diversity of perspectives, issues and interests. In this case, segmentation is used as part of a programme of public inclusion.

Variables used in segmentation

Market segmentation methods use different *variables* to identify segments.¹⁶ This includes *socio-demographic* variables: such as age, class, gender, educational attainment. Closely related to these variables are various types of *geo-demographic* variable, providing information about the location of members of different segments. This sort of information is often accessible through publicly available sources, most obviously through census data. These 'who' and 'where' variables can, in turn be augmented by 'how' variables: various types of behavioural data on what people buy, how often they recycle, how often they visit a library or museum, how often they take the bus rather than drive a car, and so on.

This sort of information is usually generated through various types of social survey. The use of *behavioural* variables is indicative of more sophisticated uses of segmentation methods, and this sophistication is further enhanced by the increasing use of so-called *psycho-graphic* variables. This refers to data that provides insight into the beliefs, values, worldviews, and attitudes of population groups. The increasing use of this type of 'why' variable is a distinctive feature of recent uses of segmentation methods in public engagement activities. Psychographic segmentation is also based on survey data, of opinions, interests and activities, but seeks to establish typologies based on values or lifestyle, and also opens space for consideration of emotional and affective dimensions of people's motivations.¹⁷ Rather than focussing on static 'attitudes' or 'opinions' or 'interests', this focus on motivational factors is indicative of a more 'dispositional' understanding of individual behaviour.¹⁸ For example, the National Centre for Social Marketing emphases the importance of dynamic understandings of segmentation:

"The analysis of the different ways that a target audience can be divided in order to effectively tailor intervention methods and approaches. Social marketing does not use a single way to segment an audience but instead explores and considers the different ways this might be done. It moves beyond using only traditional 'targeting' approaches (such as demography and epidemiology) to include psychographic factors and understanding where people are in relation to a given behaviour (such as: in denial; strongly resisting; willing but feeling difficulty; and willing but not yet achieving)."

The increasing importance of motivational variables is, then, related to the development of segmentation methods which are better attuned to grasping the *dynamism* of segments, rather than assuming a fixed set of preferences. This is a defining feature of the development of CRM, of which new segmentation methods are an integral part. The growth of CRM systems, dependent on the collection, collation and ongoing analysis of large data-sets on consumer behaviour, is oriented by an ideal goal of one-to-one marketing relationships (the so-called 'segment of one'), but in practice involves the development of more finely tuned, and dynamic models of customer segmentation.

The dynamism built into the most advanced segmentation methods points to another key issue identified in this Synthesis, which is the relation between 'found' and 'made' publics. While segmentation methods are often used to find out about pre-existing opinions or preferences, the development of dynamic modes of segmentation draws out the degree to which segmentation methods are used as part of ongoing practices of communication, engagement and intervention which seek to change the opinions, preferences, and activities of publics. In short, segmentation methods are implicated in the making and remaking of publics. It is this that differentiates market segmentations from simple surveys or polls – they are explicitly designed and undertaken with the intention of informing interventions with the aim of bringing about changes in behaviour, attitude, activity, or opinion.

The implication of segmentation methods in *making publics* as well as *finding publics* raises a set of potentially contentious issues, related to the ethics of segmentation practices and their application to public engagement. Section 3 of this Research Synthesis reviews literature from management studies which considers the issues of the ethics and reputational risks involved in segmentation methods, and considers the relevance of this literature for understanding the limitations of applying segmentation tools to public engagement contexts.

Section 2 summary

- There is currently no academic synthesis of the research and practice on the use of segmentation tools across the full range of public engagement activities.
- There is an absence of research into the *processes of translation* through which market segmentation is applied and transformed in public engagement contexts.
- A key driver in the proliferation of segmentation tools beyond commercial setting is the development of technically advanced systems of Customer Relationship Management and related data-mining systems, and the associated development of more dynamic models of the *motivations* of the subjects of both market exchange and public engagement activities.
- Segmenting methods can be used for *discriminatory* or *diversifying* purposes, both of which under certain circumstances can be consistent with public interest values.
- Segmentation methods can be deployed as part of engagement initiatives which aim to inform *behaviour change* or to inform *deliberative engagement*.
- Segmentation methods are instrumental to *finding* out about publics and to processes of *making* publics.
- The use of segmentation methods raises a range of ethical issues which are relevant to public engagement practitioners.

3. Issues in market segmentation

This section reviews academic literature on the use of segmentation methods in the public realm, including literature from management studies and marketing theory, as well as literature from critical social science. There are currently two fields of academic research in which segmentation methods are taken as an object of analysis. First, in empirical and theoretical debates in academic marketing research, the key issues to emerge are the divide between the normative value ascribed to segmentation methods in improving organisational performance, and organisational impediments to the adoption of segmentation in practice. This field of research also emphasises the degree to which segmentation methods are part of broader strategic agendas of organisations. Second, in critical social science literature, including critical marketing studies, a set of questions is raised about the ethical issues involved in segmenting, profiling, and targeting markets and publics. These are issues that any specific application of segmentation methods for public engagement should be cognizant of.

A shared emphasis across these two fields of academic research is that segmentation methods are not value-neutral. The emphasis in academic research on segments and groups being the product of available data sources and segmentation analytics directs attention to important questions about the definition of the subjects of public engagement practices which adopt segmentation methods. The academic literature also emphases the importance of specifying the objectives of engagement practices in which segmentation methods are used, which can range from generating knowledge about public attitudes or behaviour, to seeking to inform and educate publics, through to attempts to actively engage publics in problem-definition and decision-making processes.

i. Research on segmentation in management studies

In management studies, research on market segmentation has come to focus on a number of key issues. In particular, there is an increasing focus on the gap between the *theory* of market segmentation and evidence of the *practice* of market segmentation in actual business contexts. While segmentation has been ascribed a normative value in mainstream academic marketing theory, research on the theory/practice divide indicates a split between 'managerialist' and 'social science' strands of marketing theory.

Using 'off-the-shelf' segmentation tools

One set of issues raised in academic literature relates to the organisational contexts in which market segmentation tools are adopted. As already indicated in Section 2 above, both the commercial sector and organisations in public engagement activities tend to use 'off the shelf' segmentation systems. These are provided by commercial companies with appropriate expertise, often specializing in particular fields, such as public health or financial services. These segmentation systems combine multiple variables, are based on complex mathematical modelling principles, and often incorporate advanced techniques of spatial data analysis.

'Off-the-shelf' statistical packages for segmentation can give the impression that market segmentation is a straightforward and 'objective' exercise. However, questions have been raised in academic research over whether managers understand the complexity of the methodologies used in segmentation. For

example, many segmentation systems use cluster analysis, as part of broader CRM marketing strategies. Cluster analysis is a statistical approach for analysing multivariate data, and is the means by which clusters of similar customers are arranged into segments sharing similar characteristics and differentiated from one another. Cluster analysis is a means of organizing observable data into meaningful form, by producing taxonomies by grouping objects of similar kinds in distinct categories. It is a method used across scientific and social scientific fields, and in many areas of everyday practice, from medicine to retailing:

"In other words cluster analysis is an exploratory data analysis tool which aims at sorting different objects into groups in a way that the degree of association between two objects is maximal if they belong to the same group and minimal otherwise. Given the above, cluster analysis can be used to discover structures in data without providing an explanation/interpretation. In other words, cluster analysis simply discovers structures in data without explaining why they exist."²¹

The point above about the absence of explanatory power in cluster analysis is an important issue in relation to the use of segmentation methods. There is debate in management studies about whether cluster analysis generates robust segments²², given that cluster analysis inevitably involves a dimension of subjectivity in the initial classification of groups or characteristics. This is an aspect of segmentation methods which is easily hidden when these methods are presented as one part of data-mining and management tools.²³

The use of cluster analysis in segmentation systems illustrates how the identities and characteristics ascribed to members of different groupings, as well as the principles on which segments are differentiated, are in part dependent on the technical features of research methodologies used in segmentation practices (which frequently combine quantitative and qualitative methods). These methods produce patterns and groupings based on criteria that are produced externally to the data *per se* – this is an issue of increasing importance as segmentation methods increasingly adopt more dynamic variables based on attitudes, motivations, and values.

The importance of being able to conceptualise and track *dynamism* is increasingly recognised in research on market segmentation. This recognition follows in part from the increasing sophistication of CRM approaches. The shift to conceptualising and capturing 'segment instability' has prompted a focus on new variables and has been enabled in large part by developments in information and data-analysis technologies.²⁴ In particular, improvements in data capture and data management systems enabled by digitalization permits, in some business sectors at least, the development of ever more refined segments of customers.²⁵

Discussions of data capture and data management in academic management studies therefore raise issues for public engagement practitioners concerning the availability, cost and capacity of organisations to undertake effective segmentation.

Theory and practice in market segmentation

Technical issues of data collection, analysis, and management are closely related to broader questions concerning the conceptualisation of how market segmentation works in practice. These questions have increasingly become the focus of attention in academic research on market segmentation. There is an increasing acknowledgement that the normative assumptions of marketing theory

take little account of the organisational capacities which determine how segmentation methods are deployed in practice.²⁶ These include:

- 1. the assumption that segments are associated with stable preferences of customers;
- 2. the assumption that targeting segments leads to higher returns than mass marketing approaches.²⁷

Whether these assumptions are supported by evidence, or whether segments might be unstable and constantly changing or whether targeting might be ineffective, has become a focus of attention in management studies research on segmentation.

Some academic researchers argue that market segmentation is a prescriptive norm in marketing theory:

"Conventional segmentation theory has, therefore, been founded on conceptual, rather than empirical evidence, based on how organisations should segment their markets, rather than considering how they actually construct homogeneity in the marketplace". 28

The implication of this argument is that conceptualisations of market segmentation need to integrate understandings of the organisational contexts of segmentation practices into analysis of the limits and potentials of these tools.²⁹

Research on the theory/practice divide in market segmentation revolves around conceptualisations of the *diffusion* of segmentation, *barriers* to adoption, and organisational *impediments*. This is indicative of the degree to which market segmentation continues to be ascribed normative value in a great deal of management and marketing research. Two sets of issues emerge from this research: first, as noted above, a set of technical questions about data systems, financial costs, and personnel resources; and second, a set of broader issues concerning the organisational structures and corporate cultures in which segmentation methods operate. It is worth focussing on this second set of issues because they resonate with questions relevant to public engagement in higher education contexts.

In principle, market segmentation is meant to help businesses target customers with similar purchasing needs, habits, and behaviours. It follows that those businesses that make use of market segmentation would be a competitive advantage, out performing those which did not. This is the assumption that lies behind the "the pervasiveness of marketing segmentation as a normative approach to developing marketing strategy". 30 However, leading-edge academic research indicates that the use of market segmentation in businesses is much more complicated than this picture suggests. Dibb et al³¹ observe that marketing academics tend to assume that market segmentation is much more valuable than do managers of businesses. They raise two related issues; first, managers tend to think of market segmentation as being most useful in improving understanding of customers; second there is less agreement on whether it is possible to link between market segmentation and demonstrate a organisational performance. These researchers conclude that assessing the 'success' of campaigns based on market segmentation is methodologically difficult. The exact relationship between the 'internal' uses of segmentation methods and 'external' performance is an important consideration in assessing the value of segmentation methods.

So far, we have seen that the organisational benefits of market segmentation are widely accepted in mainstream marketing theory and management studies. Importantly, these benefits are assumed to outweigh the considerable resource commitments, in financial and personnel terms, which undertaking segmentation exercises can involve. As we have indicated, since the 1990s, a series of more critical strands of social science research questions in management studies and marketing have reassessed this normative model of market segmentation. These include issues concerning the nature of data analysis, statistical methodologies, and the variables used to generate segments. These technical issues are related to an increasing attention on the internal dynamics of market segmentation in organisations. The most recent theme of research on market segmentation is a concern with 'doing market segmentation', often involving qualitative research using ethnographic case studies of how market segmentation works in practice. ³²

This research brings to light the importance of organisational cultures in shaping the adoption, implementation, and outcomes of market segmentation tools. Recognising that organisations are internally complex, research on these issues focuses attention on the ways in which resource commitments need to be justified and potential benefits evidenced. The key lesson to emerge from these studies is that the adoption of market segmentation tools can have significant, and potentially unanticipated, strategic consequences for the internal and external operations of organisations.

The qualitative 'turn' in recent research on market segmentation is indicative of important debates about the nature and authority of marketing knowledge. ³³ This qualitative research on the practical implementation of segmentation exercises is that it further underscores the complex relationship between market segmentation as a normative model of organisational strategy and the actual functioning of segmentation methods in practice. ³⁴ At present, there is no equivalent body of academic research using qualitative methodologies to assess the practices of market segmentation in public engagement activities. Any use of segmentation for public engagement purposes should be cognizant of academic debates about the normative assumptions, practical applications, and empirical difficulties of assessing market segmentation tools.

Managing segmentation in practice

We close this section by underscoring the key lesson to emerge from recent academic management and marketing research on market segmentation in the commercial sector. The emphasis on examining the disjuncture between the theory and practice of segmentation has moved beyond a concern only with understanding barriers and impediments, which leave the normative assumptions of market theory in place. Leading-edge academic research on these issues does not suppose that the challenge is simply to find ways of 'correctly' applying market segmentation in practice, as if the recognition of barriers offered no challenge to the normative assumptions of marketing theory:

"There remains little practical advice within the marketing literature (while there is a wealth of conceptual and theoretical discussion) prescribing how to meet the challenge of choosing variables, identifying segments, analysing the output, measuring segment profitability, or detailing how this process can be followed by managers. With no clear explanations regarding appropriate variable selection according to managerial requirements, the resulting situation leads to a position whereby segmentation pursuits may be ineffective, wholly unaccountable and, arguably, unnecessary given that there is no transparent way to account for, or to identify, their effectiveness." 35

The lesson academic researchers draw from detailed studies of market segmentation in business practice is that the normative assumptions of market segmentation might require reconsideration. At the very least, this academic field of research is notable for indicating a shift of attention, away from an emphasis on the technicalities of creating segments (focussing on choice of variables), towards understanding in more detail how segmentation is managed in practice.³⁶ These findings are relevant in the present context, given the extent to which discussions of market segmentation in public engagement contexts tend to focus on the choice of appropriate variables; tend to assume the benefits of applying segmentation methods; and in the absence of sustained research assessing the organisational dynamics of successful segmentation activities in public engagement contexts.

ii. Research on segmentation in critical social science

We have already noted that academic research on market segmentation in management studies and marketing theory can be divided between more applied or 'managerial' approaches and 'social science' approaches. Beyond management studies and marketing theory, market segmentation practices are also the focus of attention in critical social science. We take critical social science to refer to a range of research traditions that focus on understanding the dynamics of social processes in *diagnostic* terms. The particular relevance of research in this field to this Research Synthesis lies primarily in drawing into view a set of ethical and reputational issues involved in the application of segmentation methods to public engagement activities.

Segmentation as a 'dividing practice'

One strand of argument in critical social science, most clearly articulated by media and communication theorist Oscar Gandy, is highly critical of the role of segmentation methods in contemporary public life. This critical perspective is informed by normative models of the public sphere and democratic citizenship. It holds that segmentation and targeting methods sourced from commercial marketing run against the grain of egalitarian and inclusive public sphere norms, precisely because they embody competitive strategies of the commercial world. Gandy's primary reference point is the use of segmentation methods in media and communications policy in the United States, in which segmentation methods are routinely used to divide audiences according to shared ethnic, gender, racial characteristics.³⁷ This form of **audience segmentation** is undertaken to construct audience as commodities, within a commercially organised radio and television system.

One important lesson of Gandy's research is to draw attention to how the use of segmentation methods in *commercial* fields of activity nevertheless has implications for the configuration of *public* life.³⁸ Gandy's perspective on segmentation and other 'dividing practices' is not just a critique of the application of marketing techniques to non-commercial, non-market sectors. It also involves a critique of the role of such practices in commercial marketing as well. Practices such as customer relationship management, dependent on data-mining of increasingly expansive, detailed, digitalized transactional data-bases to develop detailed differentiating profiles of 'whole populations'³⁹, is instrumental in the exclusion of some classes of consumers from full participation in the marketplace and therefore from the public sphere in the fullest sense.⁴⁰

Communication scholars have also drawn attention to the increasing use of market segmentation methods in another field of public life, that of political campaigning.

Once again, this practice is most advanced in the USA, although increasingly common in other national contexts:

"Populations are divided into smaller segments, presumably reflecting tastes, preferences, interests, needs, and propensities that bear some identifiable relationship to political issues. The rationale behind segmentation is that different backgrounds and interests, and perhaps even cognitive styles, require different sorts of persuasive appeals. It is rational, in that it makes good economic sense, to focus one's limited resources upon the most favorable prospects, and ignoring those who, if they can be moved at all, will only be moved at great cost."⁴¹

The next stage in political campaigning after segmentation is targeting, involving the delivery of tailored messages to particular groups of citizens.

From Gandy's perspective, the use of segmentation and targeting in political campaigns represents a threat to equal participation in the public sphere, understood as an ideal of inclusive, shared communication: "the logic of segmentation emphasizes the value of difference over the value of commonality". Segmentation and targeting are understood as 'dividing practices' inimical to public sphere. 43

The ethics of segmentation

The relevance of this critical perspective on segmentation for considerations of the use of segmentation in public engagement activities is to underscore questions of ethics and reputational risk. Evidence suggests that marketing professionals are acutely aware of the sensitivity of customers and members of the public to the discovery that they are being counted, sorted, categorised, and targeted. The application of segmentation methods is vulnerable to being perceived as unfair and manipulative, and if this is the case in commercial marketing, it is likely to be further enhanced in public engagement contexts.

An important contribution of critical social science research is on the difficult relationship between technologies used for organising the public realm which are also deployed for the surveillance of private lives. A recurrent concern in critical social science is that sophisticated information and data-mining technologies about individual behaviours threatens to undermine public life by encouraging fragmented communications to discrete segments of 'the public'. New research focuses on the uses of consumer data drawn from CRM for various public purposes related of 'securitization', whether related to anti-terrorism strategy in travel and transport sectors or financial crime. One issue that this translation of market segmentation methods to new fields of public life draws out is the extent to which CRM is inherently 'discriminatory', in that it seeks to make organisations treat their customers differently based upon their personal characteristics or habits". Critical management studies now focuses attention on the ethical implications of the use of CRM-sourced segmentation methods for various types of 'profiling'. These ethical issues include concerns raised by datamining for the proprietary rights of personalised information, and the use of these in segmenting public communication strategies.

One lesson of this emergent field of research on the ethics of segmentation methods is the idea that profiling technologies are not neutral techniques: ethical issues arise even in contexts in which they are deployed with the purpose of protecting vulnerable sections of the public or socially excluded customers.⁴⁹ It is important to recognise that segments are not naturally occurring entities, as Gandy puts it, but that they are "the product of theoretical models and analytical"

techniques".⁵⁰ There are two aspects to this sense of the active construction or making of segments, whether in marketing or public engagement.

- 1. First, segmentation is proliferating across fields because it is becoming more and more possible to do, in a context of more sophisticated technologies for capturing, storing, and manipulating transactional data in particular.
- 2. Second, segmentation is shaped by theories of interest, motivation, and behaviour.

The proliferation of segmentation methods across diverse fields is, then, a prime example of what has been called 'the social life of methods'. This is a field of methodological research and knowledge production which is shaped by transformations in technologies, organisational forms, and social practices; at the same time as these methodologies help to re-configure social practices in new ways. ⁵¹

From this perspective, segmentation methods might be understood as part of a 'new governmentality', referring to practices through which the rationalities and reasoning of populations are made known to governments, non-government agencies, and private actors so that they might better interact with those populations as citizens, volunteers, clients, consumers, customers, and so on. For example, segmentation strategies are used to divide and target customers, using complex data mining and computer analysis systems, to re-shape relationships between individuals and markets around models of the informed, confident, empowered consumer. The same time, the same methods and strategies can be applied to public sector management, for example, in the classification practices used in e-government initiatives, which recast the citizen around the virtues usually ascribed to the consumer. From this perspective, the segmentation of *publics* is related to a broader 'clientalization' of the population in relation to publics services, where new forms of classification enable new forms of relationships to be developed, which enact new public values of targeting, responsiveness to need, differentiation and personalisation. The consumer of the population in the classification enable new forms of relationships to be developed, which enact new public values of targeting, responsiveness to need, differentiation and personalisation.

In this section, we have reviewed literature from critical social science that emphases the processes of 'construction' through which publics are made. The relevance of this tradition of thinking in this context is that it emphasises a set of ethical concerns about the application of segmentation methods in different contexts.

Section 3 summary

- Segmentation methods are not value-neutral. Segments are the product of available data sources and theoretical assumptions about motivations, interests, and identities.
- Recent academic research on market segmentation focuses on the practice of 'doing market segmentation'.
- Conceptualisations of the disjuncture between the theory and practice of segmentation no longer assume that the problem is simply one of barriers and impediments to diffusion.
- This research brings to light the importance of organisational cultures in shaping the outcomes of segmentation exercises.
- A significant issue arising from this field is the importance of reflecting on the theoretical assumptions and models which are used to inform data collection and data analysis; in so far as these provide the explanatory

- shape generated by descriptive statistical methodologies such as cluster analysis used in 'off-the-shelf' segmentation systems.
- There is no equivalent body of academic research using qualitative methodologies to assess the practices of market segmentation in public engagement activities.
- These findings from management studies and marketing theory are relevant in so far as discussion of market segmentation in public engagement contexts often tends to focus on the choice of appropriate variables; tends to assume the benefits of applying segmentation methods; and is proliferating in the absence of sustained research assessing the organisational dynamics of successful segmentation activities in public engagement contexts.
- Critical social science emphases the processes of 'construction' through which publics are made by segmentation and targeting practices. This tradition highlights a set of ethical issues arising from the application of segmentation methods in public engagement activities.
- There is little existing research examining the issues of ethics, evaluation, and reputational risk involved in organisations charged with various public responsibilities undertaking segmentation exercises.

4. Segmentation and public value

This section moves from reviewing existing academic research on market segmentation, to review issues arising from the application of market segmentation in areas where issues of public engagement are relevant. We first also explore issues relevant to public engagement which emerge from one of the fields in which segmentation is most well established, that of 'green', 'ethical' or 'sustainable' consumption. This is an area in which both public and private organisations seek to engage people in environmentally sustainable consumption practices, stretching from routine shopping decisions to the reconfiguration of domestic household space. Then we move on to consider debates about 'public value' in public sector management, which are relevant to understanding the contexts in which segmentation is applied for public engagement purposes. Our review of these two fields reveals the relationship between organisational form, technologies of engagement, and the delivery of public benefits to be a complex one.

i. Applying segmentation to public issues

Marketing is an increasingly important feature of organisational strategies in many non-commercial contexts. For example, segmentation models are widely used in the charity and non-profit sector, to help identify likely volunteers or target potential donors. ⁵⁶ In this section, we review two sectors in which segmentation methods have been adopted with the aim of engaging people in broadly defined citizenly activities: political marketing; and green, ethical and sustainable consumerism. These two fields provide examples of which aspects of segmentation methods translate to public engagement practices of different sorts, and which aspects do not necessarily translate. In these two areas of public engagement, segmentation methods are still closely connected to understandings of the subjects, mediums, and outcomes of public engagement derived from marketing models of consumer buying behaviour.

Segmentation in political marketing

In the use of segmentation methods in political marketing, the value of segmentation in establishing competitive advantage remains important. In this area of public engagement, the subject of engagement is still closely modelled on models of consumer buying behaviour. The use of segmentation in political marketing for non-partisan objectives, however, is an example of the use of segmentation methods to target specific groups in the name of broadly public, inclusive aims (increased voter participation).

The application of segmentation models of buyer-behaviour in political marketing is a long-standing practice. There are two key issues in the academic literature on segmentation in political marketing. The first is the role of segmentation in partisan campaigning, focussing on how political parties divide up and segment populations to target likely voters in the most effective ways. The use of segmentation is one aspect of a broader integration of marketing knowledge into political campaigning.⁵⁷ In this case, segmentation methods are used as a strategic tool for competitive advantage. At the same time, however, political 'segments' are notoriously unstable, limiting the degree to which segmentation methods can be applied for predictable outcomes.⁵⁸ The second key issue to emerge in this literature is the use of segmentation in less partisan political practices. The last two decades have seen increasing official concern about declining levels of participation in political life, usually expressed in terms of voter

turnout in elections. Segmentation methods have been deployed to identify social groups who are relatively under-represented in political practices, especially non-voters, in order to develop strategies to engage people more equally in political processes. This type of use of segmentation is, then, closer to the increasing use of segmentation in public sector management, and especially in local government, where this trend is related to imperatives to be more efficient in the targeting of services on those most 'in need'. 60

The literature on the use of segmentation in political marketing therefore illustrates the variability of strategic purposes to which this 'technology' can be applied: it is used as a tool for competitive advantage in partisan political campaigning, in which 'engagement' is modelled closely on consumer buying behaviour (i.e. voting is understood as analogous to choosing in the marketplace). And it is also used for more neutral public purposes, to provide information to government and non-government agencies charged with getting people to engage more fully in public life as citizens.

Segmentation in green, ethical and sustainable consumerism

The use of segmentation in political marketing is an example of the use of competitive, individualising knowledge-technologies to enhance explicitly public processes – in this case, the competitive elections which are a basic feature of citizenship participation in liberal democracies. A similar application can be identified in the field of alternative retailing around green, ethical and sustainable consumerism. The use of segmentation methods in green, ethical and sustainable consumerism focuses on defining segments of 'consumers' in terms of attitudes to environmental sustainability, human rights, or global justice issues.

The use of segmentation methods by private sector retailing and advertising companies, non-profit campaign organisations, and non-departmental government agencies is widespread. In this field, segmentation is applied for commercial purposes as in any other sector of private business – to identify customer segments and to help design effective targeting strategies to grow market share. But this application is part of a broader institutional context in which market mechanisms and practices of consumer choice are mobilised as part of political movements seeking to reconfigure economic processes, built environments, and social life around public values of sustainability, justice and equality. In this section we examine some of the features of the use of segmentation in the field of ethical consumption, broadly defined.

In 2007, the Guardian News and Media group commissioned a 'green consumer segmentation' to understand the extent of ethical consumerism, and to develop advertising strategies in response. The segmentation exercise was undertaken by the Henley Centre (now the Futures Company), one of the leading providers of segmentation in the UK. In this example of segmentation, segmentation methods are used to mediate the changing relationship between attitudes to sustainability and advertising strategy:

"Over the last five years a trend towards green and ethical consumption has been emerging that in the last few months has exploded into the hot marketing topic. Advertisers from every industry are featuring green and ethical messages in their campaigns. At the same time consumers are demanding that companies provide ethical goods and services and prove their green credentials but are also confused by conflicting messages in the media. It is a minefield for advertisers and careful consideration needs to be given to green marketing messages if they are to avoid being

accused of "green wash". In light of this, GNM have undertaken an extensive research project to find out the true extent of green consumerism in the UK and provide the industry with a clear framework to use when conveying their green messages."

The research for this green consumer segmentation was based on quantitative methods to produce 'ethical segments', based on responses to attitudinal factors (e.g. desire to live ethically, level of global concern) and behavioural factors (e.g. boycotting, buying local); and then used qualitative focus group research to "uncover how each segment should be communicated to with green messages".

The green consumer segmentation divided the UK population up into five categories.⁶⁴ These are 'onlookers', 'conveniently conscious', 'positive choosers', 'vocal activists', and 'principled pioneers'. These segments are differentiated by their disposition to adjust their consumer practices in relation to what are defined as 'ethical' issues (see Figure 1).

Figure 1: *Green consumer segmentation* (GNM and Henley Centre 2007)⁶⁵

Onlookers – 26% of UK population: This group is only moderately concerned about ethical and environmental issues. They don't have any particular desire to live ethically and only engage in very "easy" activities such as recycling. They feel that it is not their responsibility or don't feel empowered enough to make a change.

Conveniently conscious – 35% of UK population: This group is aware of, and fairly concerned about, environmental change and ethical issues. They think that other people should be penalised for not recycling, and companies for their unethical behaviour. They do the "easy" things like recycling and reducing water use, but are not interested in ethical consumption or local issues.

Positive choosers – 31% of UK population: This group is highly aware and concerned and feel guilty about their lifestyle. They desire to live ethically and regularly buy from "good" companies and boycott "bad" companies, supporting the local community is also very important to this group. However, they do not complain vocally.

Vocal activists – 4%: Like the positive choosers, this group is concerned, aware and taking a stand. However, they don't just live ethically but they also vocalise their discontent and are actively involved in action against climate change.

Principled pioneers – 4%: This group are the most committed, they take a proactive and whole-hearted approach to living a more ethical and green lifestyle, for example by installing alternative energy sources. They are very knowledgeable in environmental matters and actively seek out ways they can reduce their carbon footprint.

This segmentation is used to generate basic principles of 'creative messaging', including 'Don't lecture', 'Keep it upbeat', 'Provide a simple action', 'Avoid one-upmanship', and 'It's not always appropriate to lead with green'. These principles

are derived from the observation that a majority of the UK population in this exercise (consisting of Onlookers and Conveniently Conscious) are not strongly disposed to adjust their consumer practices in response to moralized messages about living ethically. This is an example, then, of segmentation being used to inform how communication strategies should be adjusted to the dispositions of particular segments of whole populations.

Segmentations of ethical or green consumers have become increasingly common over the last decade or so, as this sector of retail markets has continued to grow and as environmental sustainability and climate change have become major issues of public concern. For example, Marks and Spencer's *Plan A* programme, which is focussed on reconfiguring business activities around healthy food, ethical sourcing, climate change, and recycling, is also premised on a customer segmentation exercise. This exercise divided customers into four segments (See Figure 2).

Figure 2: Marks and Spencer Segmentation. 66

- **A: Green zealots** (people who will actively seek out the most ethically and environmentally responsible products. Climate change is particularly important issue to these people).
- **B:** Those **interested and concerned**, but often uncertain how to shop to achieve their ethical objectives.
- **C: Aware of the problem**, not certain that their actions can have much effect or that they need to shop differently.
- D: Struggling, do not give high priority to issues covered in Plan A

These examples of segmentation of ethical consumers in the UK are similar to marketing practices in the USA. An important demographic profile classified by organisations such as the National Marketing Institute in the USA is so-called LOHAS – Lifestyles of Health and Sustainability. 67 LOHAS is a market segment that is defined in terms of commitment to a range of sustainable or green issues, including health and fitness, environment, sustainable living, development, and social justice. The NMI identifies five LOHAS segments (Figure 3). There are a number of features of this type of segmentation worth highlighting. First, LOHAS segmentation is typical in dividing populations up into 'leaders' and 'followers', indicating which groups should be targeted for innovative products or services and which groups are key to mainstreaming new products and services. This is indicative of a larger issue in segmentation methods, which is the degree to which these methods depend on implicit or explicit theories of human motivation and of the dynamics of social change. Second, segmentations like this are just one part of broader strategic programmes to develop new products and new markets. Segmentation is, in short, one step in a broader process of strategic planning.

The typologies produced by the green consumer segmentation in the UK or by LOHAS segmentation in the USA are fairly typical of the ways in which segmentation systems are used to generate *useful* knowledge about differentiated populations. It should be emphasised that the content of these sorts of typologies is shaped by the imperatives of the organisational field in question: for example, those of advertising in the case of the green consumer segmentation; those of a particular company in the case of Marks and Spencer; and those of a large and diffuse marketing industry in the case of LOHAS segmentation. These segmentations are, then, inevitably 'partial' in the sense

that the pictures they generate of differentiated populations are guided by the pragmatic concerns which the segmentation in question is intended to inform.

Figure 3: *LOHAS segments* (National Institute of Marketing, USA).⁶⁸

LOHAS: 19% (44 million) LOHAS consumers are dedicated to personal and planetary health. Not only do they make environmentally friendly purchases, they also take action – they buy green products, support advocacy programs and are active stewards of the environment.

NATURALITES: 14% (33 million) Focused on natural/organic consumer packaged goods with a strong health focus when it comes to foods/beverages. They are not politically committed to the environmental movement nor are they driven to eco-friendly *durable* goods.

DRIFTERS: 21% (49 million) This segment has good intentions, but when it comes to behavior, other factors influence their decision more than the environment. Somewhat price sensitive (and trendy), they are full of reasons *why* they do not make environmentally friendly choices.

CONVENTIONALS: 29% (67 million) This very practical segment does not have green *attitudes* but do have some "municipal" environmental behaviors such as recycling, energy conservation, and other more mainstream behaviors.

UNCONCERNED: 17% (40 million) The environment and society are *not* priorities to this segment. They are not concerned and show no environmentally-responsible behavior.

Segmentation is an important device in the private sector for generating knowledge about actual and potential markets for ethical products and services. These markets are increasingly important aspects of business strategy in both niche and mainstream marketing. There is a close relationship between the marketing research involved in producing the segmentation exercises reviewed above and academic research on sustainability and ethical consumption.⁶⁹ In particular, there is growing interest in the field of sustainable consumption research on the potential for applying social marketing solutions to various public issues defined in terms of 'behaviour change'. In this field, the same sorts of typologies produced to identify potential markets for ethical products and services are used to identify segments of populations susceptible to different forms of 'behaviour change' interventions.

The idea that segmentation and social marketing is useful in developing effective behaviour change is increasingly accepted in sustainable development policy. For example, the Sustainable Development Commission's (SDC) 2006 report *I will if you will* explicitly acknowledges this as a lesson learnt from public health policy and now to be applied to sustainability initiatives:

"Improving public health, from smoking to diet, all too often means changing people's behaviour. Across a number of countries, including the USA, Canada, Australia, New Zealand and the EU, 'social marketing' has been used to achieve this, for example by: being clear about what behaviour could be like and focusing on the right ways to achieve very specific improvements; focusing on the right people, by using 'seamentation' approaches which go bevond their circumstances to capture what they think and feel about issues, what moves and motivates them; taking a long-term approach and using a mix of interventions and ways of reaching people; and using communication and information only in the context of an overall, coordinated marketing mix, rather than in isolation. The evidence is clear that social marketing of this kind can be a practical and effective approach for achieving behaviour change."⁷⁰

It is evident in this example that the application of segmentation to new fields of public concern, as part of a broader application of social marketing techniques, depends on the reconceptualization of those fields into the abstract vocabulary of the challenges of 'behaviour change'. It is also notable in this case that the application of segmentation as part of social marketing strategies aimed at behaviour change requires an orientation towards certain sorts of variables – variables which capture what 'moves and motivates' people are the key issue if the concern is with *changing* what people do and think.

The Energy Savings Trust is the leading example of the use of segmentation in sustainable consumption. It's sophisticated segmentation model is used to advise local authorities on their public engagement around climate change issues, where 'public engagement' refers to developing strategies that target households and individuals with the aim of installing loft of cavity wall insulation or reducing car use. The Energy Savings Trust's segmentation divides people into three groups, according to their attitudes to the environment (see Figure 4).

Figure 4: The Energy Savings Trust's segmentation model.⁷¹

Green Hearted

Highly motivated minority – principal concern is environment. Often focused on single issues e.g. eat local, renewable energy. Often pre or post family. Most often well educated.

Energy Savers

The majority: Saving money and not wasting money of principal importance. 3 sub-groups: 1) Practical men >35 often with family. 2) >55s. The 'original conservationists'. Anti-waste values. 3) Women with a willing heart who want 'to do their bit' but worried & preoccupied heads.

Apathetic

Face too many barriers. Includes renting or living in flats. Mainly under 30. Some older too: 35+ and 55+ downmarket women, esp. Most often C2DE – some C1. Doing the least and extremely hard to reach.

The assumption behind this typology of local residents is that not all people respond to the same approaches and the same sorts of messages. In this case, the differentiation produced by the segmentation is shaped by the overall aim of communicating effectively with all types of residents – the differentiation is meant

to inform inclusive communications strategies. But it also notable that the purpose of the segmentation here is oriented to getting people to adjust their behaviour in relation to pre-established goals and objectives (reducing environmental impacts of everyday consumption practices), not to eliciting people's opinions or perspectives in problem- definition *per se*.

We use the example of sustainable development initiatives to illustrate that the representations generated by segmentation methods are not in this case straightforwardly 'objective', in so far as they are shaped by the pragmatic imperatives that follow from defining sustainability issues in terms of behaviour change. This is important to emphasise both in terms of the effectiveness of different segmentation methods, and also because it returns to the ethical and reputational issues generated by the application of segmentation methods to public issues. Within the field of sustainability policy, segmentation methods are differently placed depending on the degree to which the overall aim of initiatives is focussed on behaviour change or deliberative engagement. This point is explicitly addressed in a 2007 report by the Institute of Public Policy Research for the Sustainable Development Commission on public engagement with climate change issues. 72 The IPPR makes a clear distinction between initiatives aimed at 'influencing attitudes and behaviour' and those which are aimed at 'opening up political space' for government policy. The report acknowledges the importance of segmentation for developing effective deliberative strategies aimed not just at changing people's behaviour but giving them a voice in the development of policies and initiatives:

"there are clear divisions in public opinion about climate change, as well as in the media, business and civil society groups. Engagement for political space (ranging from debates in the media through to the full range of consultative and deliberative techniques) needs to be targeted clearly at specific audiences – the strategies used for convincing sceptics are very different to those aimed at people in the middle ground. The first step is to analyse and segment audiences. It is crucial to separate out public groups into those that will be allies, those that are indifferent and those that are hostile, both to engaging in debate at all, and to particular solutions."⁷³

The IPPR also acknowledges the importance of dynamic motivational variables, compared to more static socio-economic variables. However, the report reiterates that segmentation methods function differently depending on the overall strategic purpose for which these methods are deployed. Recommending the sophisticated segmentations developed by the Energy Savings Trust as a model from which lessons can be learnt, the IPPR nonetheless add an important caveat:

"However it should be borne in mind that these campaigns are aimed primarily at behaviour change, rather than engagement for debate over national strategy, and segmentation for the two purposes may not be the same."⁷⁴

In this section, we have reviewed the use of segmentation methods in green, ethical and sustainable consumption. Segmentation is used both in the commercial sector, to target ethical consumers and grow markets. It is also used by a variety of government and non-government agencies to develop effective communications strategies around various sustainability campaigns. In the former case, segmentation is used in a conventional commercial marketing fashion as part of strategies oriented to achieving various public or social goals. In the latter case, segmentation is more directly oriented to goals of engaging differentiated publics with the aim of changing attitudes and behaviours. In terms of public

engagement, both of these approaches focuses primarily on processes of *informing* people, with the objective of changing people's behaviour in terms of purchasing decisions or shifting them to adopt new practices.

A key issue to emerge from this field, we have seen, is the different role that segmentation plays in strategies aimed at changing behaviour in relation to preestablished objectives and strategies which aim to engage people in the definition of issues and problems as well. We will return to this relationship more fully in Section 5 of this Research Synthesis.

ii. Using market segmentation to deliver 'public value'

Segmentation methods are increasingly used in the management of public sector service delivery. Private sector consultancies are important actors in this process, providing segmentation and other marketing techniques for use in the public sector. This field is relevant to higher education contexts, given the challenges of applying marketing techniques in organisations charged with delivering **'public value'.** The imperatives driving the adoption of segmentation methods in the public sector include shrinking budgets, increased demand, increasing expectations, and personalisation agendas. In turn, distinctive understandings of public engagement are associated with segmentation in the public sector, including a concern with eliciting the views and perspectives of citizens in policy and programme design, and ensuring efficient targeting of resources. The public sector is therefore one field in which the three imperatives identified in Section 2.i). above – of accountability, efficiency, and legitimacy – are re-shaping understandings of public engagement, and provoking innovative responses.

The use of marketing in the public sector is not a new phenomenon, and has been a feature of so-called 'new public management for at least two decades.⁷⁵ There are long-standing concerns that the use of marketing techniques contributes to an individualist emphasis in public sector management. It is also argued that marketing strategies are not value free, in so far as they enact norms of market exchange and consumer rationality.⁷⁶ An important distinction in academic literature on this topic is between consumer marketing and strategic marketing. Segmentation methods might be used on both of these practices, but they represent different contexts of application.

The use of private sector models in the public sector has generated an extensive academic literature. Amongst the most influential strands of research is the idea of 'public value', developed by Harvard Professor, Mark Moore.⁷⁷ The concept of public value is meant to serve as an alternative to customer-oriented models of government, which presume that public agencies can simply be re-modelled on the ideal of markets. It is a concept that presents management activities as crucial in negotiating the purposes of public sector activities, or their 'public value'. There are two aspects to the creation of public value: client satisfaction, and social outcomes. The public value model is premised on the idea that there is no equivalent in the public sector of the one-to-one relationship with the customer, or of the intrinsic responsibility to create value for shareholders.

While these organisational features have been interpreted by some strands of social science to justify the introduction of market-models that simulate private sector incentive regimes, Moore's concept of 'public value' places the emphasis on the role of effective management in generating and maintaining conversations with the multiple stakeholders in any public body over how to deliver services. It

is a concept of relevance here because it places the emphasis on how public agencies maintain relations of accountability with the collectives, the plural publics, they are meant to serve, rather than substituting this relationship for multiple relationships with individual clients.

Academic debates about the role of market mechanisms in the public sector, the new public management, and public value are relevant to understanding the proliferation of segmentation methods in the public sector because they indicate the very different strategic uses to which such methods might be applied. Segmentation methods might be deployed as part of initiatives to better engage with plural grouping as constituents of a collective public, and they might be deployed to enhance strategies to better tailor service delivery to the needs of individual clients. These two uses are not mutually exclusive, and both serve identifiably public purposes of efficiency and accountability. Nevertheless, we draw the distinction to assist in the task of understanding the dynamics and implications of the diverse translations of segmentations into different fields of the public sector.

Questions of how to define the public purposes of public sector organisations are of course even more acutely felt in the wake of the global financial crisis of 2008, which in the UK have triggered shrinking budgets across the public sector. The relationship between resource scarcity and increasing demand and heightened expectations is, however, a longer-standing dynamic of public sector transformations in the UK. In 2004, Accenture, one of the leading private sector consultancy firms involved in re-configuring public sector management in the UK, summarised the dynamics of public sector reform in the following terms:

"Today, public-sector organizations everywhere find themselves squeezed between their constituents' rising expectations and their own financial constraints. Citizens' needs are ever increasing. Yet continuing fiscal pressures limit government's ability to manoeuvre." ⁷⁹

It is this relationship that drives the increasing use of segmentation methods in the public sector, based on the assumption that segmenting 'the public' into subgroups is a means to offering tailored services that both target those 'most in need' while also answering to the individualizing imperatives of personalisation agendas in the public sector. Public sector management has been reconfigured towards being responsive to the 'needs, expectations and perceptions' of different constituencies, understood in terms of hybrid figures such as the citizenconsumer or citizen-client.⁸⁰

It is in this context that segmentation methods have become increasingly common features of public sector management strategies. Segmentation is just one part of a more widespread use of data technologies to improve efficiency of service delivery in the public sector. For example, the use of advanced geodemographic and spatial data analysis systems is advocated as a means of enabling public sector agencies to move beyond models of passive, undifferentiated publics as the recipients of services such as education, health, or policing.⁸¹

Segmentation methods have become central to the strategic imagination of public sector reform in the UK. In 2007, two of the leading private sector 'public service' consultancies specialising in advanced data analysis techniques, TNS-BMRD and the Futures Company, set up the Institute for Insight in the Public Service (IIPS). The IIPS is envisaged as "a collaborative thought leadership vehicle" dedicated to "bringing insights about the needs and expectations of British citizens to the heart of government. We exist to provide the context for service transformation, as well

as to bring citizen insight from around the world to bear."⁸² Research by these companies, leaders in public segmentation systems, is instrumental to the mission of understanding 'What the Citizen Wants'. Segmentation is understood in this field as a method to "to prioritise customer insight and improve service delivery"⁸³. It is just one of several techniques the IIPS uses to "uncover insight to drive service transformation":

"Segmentations are particularly valuable to the public sector as they improve understanding of customer needs, attitudes and behaviours with the aim of supporting more strategic thinking and policy making, better designed services and tailored communications."⁸⁴

The increasing use of CRM approaches and other marketing techniques in the public sector, of which segmentation methods are a basic element, is only likely to increase in a context of budget cuts, increasing imperatives for transparency and accountability, and heightened demand for and expectations of services. The academic literature on the use of segmentation and other marketing techniques in the public sector indicates that there are two key problems to be addressed in any assessment of the potential of segmentation in public engagement.

- 1. Segmentation is clearly relevant to sectors in which imperatives of targeting and personalisation are acutely felt. However, a defining feature of the 'public' purposes of organisations in both the public sector and the third sector are certain sorts of 'universal' obligations: to provide a uniform level of service to all clients, for example; or obligations to be open and accessible to all. The use of segmentation methods involves a difficult negotiation of the different public purposes of organisations, balancing equally compelling imperatives of being responsive to differentiated publics without undermining obligations of collective stakeholding or universal access.
- 2. Segmentation methods are sourced from private sector marketing, and embody and enact certain normative assumptions of market-based practices. A key question to arise from our analysis so far is whether or not segmenting markets is the same as segmenting publics. Beyond obvious features of segmentation such as an emphasis on competitive strategy and individualisation, which may or may not be compatible with public values in different organisational contexts, two features of marketing techniques like segmentation are worth noting in this regard: first, they are based on a model of social relations as a series of transactions between principals and agents; and second, marketing techniques like segmentation are understood to be part of strategies of communication. A fundamental question for assessing the potential of segmentation in public engagement activities is, then, what forms of transactions and what forms of communication any given usage of segmentation encourages and sustains.

Section 4 summary

- Segmentation is used in the commercial sector, to target ethical consumers and grow markets for sustainable products.
- Segmentation is used by a variety of government and non-government agencies to develop effective communications strategies around various sustainability campaigns.
- In terms of public engagement, both of these fields focus on processes of *informing* people, with the objective of changing people's behaviour in terms of purchasing decisions or shifting them to adopt new practices.
- There is a tension in using segmentation methods to divide publics up into distinct groups in the name of delivering 'public value', which is meant to be inclusive, collectively shared, or universal.
- There is a tension in using segmenting to determine what publics 'want' and organisational responsibilities to provide services that meet individual, community, and public 'needs';
- There is a tension between using segmentation methods as part of behaviour change initiatives and using segmentation methods as part of more deliberative strategies of engagement.
- Segmentation methods can used in strategies aimed at changing behaviour in relation to pre-established objectives, and in strategies which aim to engage people in the definition of issues and problems as well.
- There is little existing research examining the conceptual, methodological, and practical similarities and differences between segmenting markets and segmenting publics

5. Segmentation in public engagement practice

This section reviews the variety of practical fields of public engagement in which segmentation methods are currently being applied. As already indicated, there is relatively little academic research explicitly focussed on understanding the proliferation of segmentation methods in public engagement contexts. Academic research in particular fields informs the definition of variables used in segmentation exercises, and is used to evaluate the success of segmentation exercises in helping to meet public engagement objectives.

As we have already indicated in this Research Synthesis, segmentation methods are used as part of broader strategies. The strategic rationales shaping the projects of which any specific segmentation exercise is a part will therefore shape the uses and contents of that segmentation. In this section, we identify four broad strategic rationales for which segmentation methods are used in public engagement activities:

- social marketing and behaviour change initiatives, which aim to generate aggregate changes in patterns of consumption, engagement, and use
- visitor and audience engagement strategies which seek to enhance and extend the experience and identifications of people with particular cultural services

In both of these cases, segmentation is used to develop better understandings of what members of the public do, think, value about different activities.

- 3. **campaigning.** In this case, segmentations are used not just to target people to change behaviour or adopt new practices, but to identify likely supporters and design strategies of mobilisation, lobbying, and participation.
- 4. the strategic **planning of communications** by organisations. In this case, segmentations are used to inform the design of 'internal' organisational programmes to improve engagement with members of the public.

These four purposes are 'ideal-types', and they are not mutually exclusive. Particular examples of public engagement practice will likely use segmentation methods for more than one of these purposes at the same time. In particular, the role of segmentation in shaping the strategic planning of communications is a common feature of the use of segmentations in different areas. Different fields of public engagement practice, are, however characterised by an emphasis on one or two of these purposes more than others.

In terms of the **three purposes of public engagement** identified by the NCCPE⁸⁵ – *informing*, *consulting*, and *collaborating* – these strategic rationales tend to emphasise some of these purposes more than others. Behaviour change initiatives focus primarily on models of public engagement in terms of *informing* and educating people; in the cases of visitor and audience engagement and planning of communications, there is more emphasis on *consulting* people as well

as informing people, since the aim in these cases is to embed a more responsive style of engagement into organisations' activities; while campaigning activities tend to include a strong emphasis on *collaborating* in addition to informing and consulting, since here the aim is to build relationships with particular constituencies of people in order to build sustained programmes of shared engagement and problem-solving.

This section reviews the three main areas of public engagement practice in which segmentation methods have increasingly been used. It elaborates in more detail how the tensions and issues identified in previous sections are practically negotiated in different organisational fields. These three areas are:

- the use of segmentation in social marketing programmes across the public sector, where public engagement is primarily understood in terms of informing to produce changes in behaviour;
- 2. the use of segmentation in arts, culture and heritage sectors, where public engagement usually combines *informing* and *consulting* to enhance visitor or audience engagement; and
- 3. the use of segmentation in campaigning, where public engagement often also includes an emphasis on *collaborating* in order to generate and sustain mobilisation and support.

Although there are overlaps between these three areas, they represent three distinctive 'models' of the relations between segmentation methods, organisational strategy, and the subjects of segmentations that emerge from a review of segmentation in public engagement. None of the examples is drawn directly from Higher Education, an area where research on the possible uses of segmentation methods is underdeveloped. However, by identifying the strategic rationalities and purposes of public engagement that segmentation methods have been used to support, these models provide **analogies** for the different strategic purposes driving current debates and public engagement and higher education from which further questions and research problems can be generated.

i. Segmentation and social marketing

The application of segmentation tools is an important aspect of the growing use of social marketing in various fields of public engagement by government departments and agencies. Within this broad field, there are different models of engagement within which segmentation methods are embedded. This section reviews the use of segmentation methods in public health initiatives by the Department of Health; segmentation methods used by DEFRA and the Department of Transport in relation to assessing public attitudes to environmental issues such as climate change; and the use of segmentation methods in initiatives by DfID to engage publics in global humanitarian and overseas aid issues. The different understandings of the subjects of public engagement and different models of the communication strategy used in public engagement across these policy areas illustrates different combinations of 'behaviour change' and 'deliberative engagement' within public engagement programmes. As already indicated, the emphasis tends to be on one-way models of informing people in this field of public engagement. It is also notable that across all these policy fields, the methodological and analytical emphases of segmentation practices are increasingly oriented towards the operationalisation of dynamic, motivational variables to generate segments.

The use of segmentation for public engagement in the public sector is intimately related to the growth of social marketing activities. Social marketing is a term developed to indicate that marketing practices are not only relevant to commercial activities in the private sector. The marketing theorist Philip Kotler, one of the originators of the concept, provides the following definition:

"Social marketing is the application of marketing concepts and tools to influence the behaviour change of a target audience in ways that create net benefits for the individual, community, and society at large. Typically, social marketing centres on such problem areas as health, environmental protection, better education, family planning and others." ⁸⁶

The principles of social marketing have become an influential medium for the application of marketing practices in the public sector and non-profit organisations, as one aspect of the growth of strategic marketing practices.⁸⁷ Figure 5 provides an overview of how market segmentation is positioned within social marketing principles.

Figure 5: Market Segmentation in Social Marketing.88

Market segmentation and targeting is at the core of marketing strategy and consumers (or potential consumers) are the key stakeholder group for both commercial and social marketers:

Market segmentation → Market targeting → Marketing positioning

Market **segmentation** is the process of dividing the market in to groups of consumers who respond in a similar way to a given set of marketing stimuli (e.g. price, product features) or, alternatively, groups of consumers/customers with homogeneous needs or preferences. This may be on the basis of demographics, e.g. age, gender; geographics, e.g. by country, rural/urban areas; psychographics, e.g. lifestyle; or behavioural factors, e.g. brand loyalty.

Subsequently the organisation will select a **target** market based on a number of factors. For example, will the target market provide the required level of behaviour change (or meet other objectives)? Will it be accessible to the organisation taking into account the available resources, etc.?

The third stage is to **position** the product/organisation (a) against competitors and (b) in the minds of the consumer, i.e. arranging for a product/service to occupy a clear, distinctive and desirable place in the market and in the minds of target customers. This is achieved through product design, pricing, promotional activities, etc. Communication and branding are essential elements of a marketing programme.

Social marketing applies to various 'public issues' models of how consumer behaviour can be influenced which have been developed in commercial marketing. ⁸⁹ In the process, social issues are reconfigured as objects of policy intervention by being presented as the aggregate outcome of myriad individual actions. For example, the use of social marketing principles in public health initiatives is shaped by an emphasis on personal responsibility for health and understanding the "the reasons why people choose to adopt unhealthy behaviours". ⁹⁰

A fundamental principle of social marketing programmes is that behaviour change takes place through voluntary action, but that this can be steered or 'nudged' with the help of marketing practices. The most developed uses of segmentation in social marketing is in areas where the social good is related to a public health issue; for example, reducing levels of smoking; reducing alcohol consumption; tackling increasing levels of obesity; encouraging exercise and fitness; encouraging organ donation; encouraging the wearing of seat belts. ⁹¹ In all of these fields, the purpose of public engagement is tightly contained within a field in which communication is aimed at generating an observable change in behaviour.

Segmentation is a basic feature of social marketing, where it is used to identify target groups for behaviour change initiatives. ⁹² It enables social marketers to focus on relatively homogenous groups, and develop a deeper understanding of these groups in order to develop an effective mix of targeting strategies. ⁹³

There are a number of private consultancies and academic research groups who provide expertise in social marketing, with the aim of helping organisations to develop 'behaviour change interventions'. In 2006, the UK government established the National Social Marketing Centre as 'the centre of excellence for social marketing and behaviour change in the UK'. Through this consolidation of a network of 'knowledge brokers' providing technical expertise to public sector organisations, segmentation methods have become an increasingly widespread feature of government communications strategies of public engagement around a number of issues. While widespread, segmentation methods are used in different ways in different policy fields however, depending on the model of public engagement within which they are deployed.

The NSMC acknowledges that different segmentation criteria generate different forms of knowledge, and that these different forms of knowledge in turn inform different types of intervention. Some segmentations identify who and where people are; some focus on what people do, in terms of behaviours, service use, consumption patterns, and so on; and some focus on what people think and feel, in terms of needs, motivations, values and influences. Interventions can range from informing and encouraging, to servicing, designing environments, to controlling and regulating. The combination of these forms of knowledge and types of intervention shapes the different models of public engagement that segmentation methods can be used to support.

An important feature of the growth of social marketing is its dependence on a particular aspect of marketing theory, in which marketing is understood as a *communication process* based on *exchange*: "Marketing is human activity directed at satisfying needs and wants through exchange processes" This understanding generates two issues for social marketing strategies:

- First, what is being exchanged? Is it a product, a service, or an idea: "a key issue for social marketers is to define the nature of their product, i.e., exactly what are people buying when they adopt new behaviours such as recycling or stopping smoking?"⁹⁹
- 2. Second, how is exchange conceptualised in social marketing? As we shall see, some uses of social marketing adopt relatively restricted models of exchange in terms of individualised transfers of information, while other uses inform much more expansively dialogic models of communication.

Having introduced the basic outlines of the place of segmentation methods in social marketing practices aimed at aggregate behaviour change outcomes, we will review in turn the role of segmentation in public health, in environmental sustainability, and in development communications. There are important differences of emphasis in the aims and objectives of public engagement in these three areas, and this is reflected in the uses to which segmentation methods are put in each case.

Segmentation in public health

Public health is the area where the use of social marketing and market segmentation in public engagement is most developed. One of the most well established fields in which these practices are deployed is in Development Policy, where segmentation methods are basic elements of public health initiatives around reproductive health, not least in HIV and AIDS programmes and programmes designed to increase condom use and change sexual behaviour. In this policy field, segmentation methods are part of broader strategies of participatory civic engagement they involve both informing and consulting. Using market segmentation techniques fits with an emphasis on targeting distinctive groups of behaviour types: segments in public health contexts in developing countries are based on how people behave or how they respond to communications efforts.

While well established in Development Policy fields, segmentation as a tool of social marketing is increasingly important in the planning and management of public health initiatives in Western contexts. One feature of this growth is the tailoring of segmentation methods to the distinctively *public* qualities of public health initiatives. It is not assumed that segmentation can or should be adopted unchanged from commercial marketing: "What marketing sciences do well is to identify, tap, and amplify underlying values and systems that motivate potential consumers". 102 In this field, it is necessary to develop understandings of the subjects of public health initiatives which are consistent with the strategic purposes and values of community-based engagement. An important dimension of this translation of segmentation into public health is the development of segmentation models that go beyond a traditional focus on demographic and epidemiological variables, to develop clusters of 'health lifestyles'. 103 Thus, the adoption of social marketing in public health is indicative of a broader move to develop deeper segmentations which capture what 'moves and motivates' people, using psycho-graphic data of various sorts.

Segmentation has become a basic feature of UK government public health initiatives using social marketing in the last decade. ¹⁰⁴ The principle at work in this field is to use segmentation to differentiate segments of the public in order to better address their specific health concerns:

"The purpose of audience segmentation strategies in public health and health behaviour research is to identify easily defined, mutually exclusive population subgroups whose members share characteristics that are important barriers to or facilitators of the health-related behaviour of interest. Each population subgroup should also be reachable through similar outreach and intervention strategies."

In 2006, the Department of Health (DH) undertook a major segmentation exercise of the population of England, *Healthy Foundations*, to inform policy around six public health priority areas: smoking, obesity, alcohol, sexual health, mental health, substance abuse. This exercise reflects a concern with using segmentation to enhance the responsiveness of public service delivery to the

differentiations of target populations; it also sought to provide a coherent strategy to the application of segmentation across different areas of public health:

"The model is intended as a building block for a customer-focused approach to the development of health behaviour change interventions. It should *not* be viewed solely as a segmentation for informing communications. The use of segmentation is not new to DH. However, at present there is no single consistent approach to segmentation across different public health target areas. One of the objectives of this project was to develop a segmentation framework or model that can be applied across issues, thereby giving a '360 degree' picture of the population rather than a series of overlapping views of people from the perspective of each issue."

The *Healthy Foundations* segmentation model combined three types of data-sets to produce its model of target audiences: epidemiology; social and consumer research; and public health targets. It uses three 'dimensions' to identify those segments of the whole population most likely to adopt so-called 'at risk behaviours': age and life-style; circumstances and environments; and attitudes and beliefs towards health and health issues.

The *Healthy Foundations* motivational segmentation is one example of a shift in thinking about public health communication strategies beyond a narrow focus on the provision of information, a shift evident in other fields such as environmental communication as well. This is indicative of a move towards thinking of public engagement as more than simply the response to a deficit of knowledge on the publics behalf. This shift in thinking about public engagement beyond the aim of providing more and more information is crystallised by The King's Fund's 2008 *Kicking Bad Habits* research programme. This report illustrates how segmentation methods are re-positioned around motivational variables as part of this shift. In seeking to rethink behaviour change interventions beyond a paradigm of informing people of the beneficial and detrimental health effects of certain behaviours, it focussed on five key questions:

- 1. To what extent do financial incentives help individuals change their behaviour?
- 2. What behaviour change interventions are most effective for individuals in low income groups?
- 3. How effective are information-led strategies?
- 4. To what extent does increasing an individual's motivation and self-confidence help them change their behaviour?
- 5. How can behaviour change interventions best be targeted and tailored to secure the desired health outcomes? 108

The first four questions have significant implications for how the final question about the use of segmentation strategies in securing outcomes. These four questions imply a focus on dynamic, motivational variables in generating segments and clusters. And this is an increasingly important emphasis across the different fields in which segmentation methods are applied.

This focus on motivations is an important feature of the *Healthy Foundations* segmentation, which combines quantitative and qualitative methods to generate target groups:

The major benefit is that we believe *Healthy Foundations* will provide a tool to enhance accessibility to services. Specifically, *Healthy Foundations*

provides a unique motivation segmentation, enabling service providers and commissioners to re-align the front-end of services enhancing accessibility, service uptake and subsequent health outcomes. Healthy Foundations provides a patient led insight into the motivation and subsequent needs and requirements of the population. This population informed insight provides the NHS and Department of Health with the intelligence to improve public health delivery systems, considering the motivations and needs of the population to offer appropriate intensity and consequential format of intervention to empower individuals across the discrete subsections of the population ensuring a systematised and scaled response for better health outcomes for all. Utilising these insights will inform bottom up tailored commissioning of access to services, ensuring responsive services. This insight may also be utilised to inform differential interventions required to address long-term conditions, considering specifically the intensity and format of intervention required to achieve optimal supported self management. 109

Healthy Foundations is, then, an example of segmentation being used to differentiate the public in response to both efficiency and accountability imperatives: it is meant to enable cost-effective and tailored policies that "address the needs of the population as expressed by the population."

It is also worth underlining that the DH's motivational segmentation is designed as part of a broad repertoire of management technologies made available to local authorities, Primary Care Trusts, and other locally focussed public health organisations. As in other sectors (e.g. the Arts Council's segmentation of arts visitors discussed below), a segmentation as thorough and extensive as *Healthy Foundations* depends on centralised resource capacity, which is then scaled downwards to local actors. Two issues therefore arise from this example:

- 1. A segmentation of this sophistication requires a particular level of resource capacity to be produced in the first place.
- 2. And the effective local application of such segmentations also raises issues of capacity in terms of data analysis skills and capabilities amongst those expected to make use of such knowledge.

In respect of both of these issues, the *Kicking Bad Habits* programme acknowledged that "Targeting, geodemographics and social marketing all involve analysing a range of complex data". These sorts of management practices are based on the expectation that public health organisations have the capacity to undertake ongoing assessments of local health needs and requirements. The King's Fund's sponsored programme established, however, that this issue of capacity and skill was a real concern:

"NHS staff may be required to analyse data but lack the skills necessary to interpret it accurately and use it to develop or adapt behaviour change interventions. What seems to be happening right now in a lot of PCTs is that they are spending the time and energy to identify groups, but the next step of actually doing something with that information isn't happening as much as it should. (Seminar participant)". 110

This type of finding is quite consistent with the management studies research reviewed in Section 3 on the complexities of effectively putting segmentation methods into practice for their intended purposes. Thus, two things emerge clearly from research on segmentation and social marketing in public health initiatives:

- 1. Segmentation models in this field involve complex processes of data gathering and analysis;
- 2. Related to this, segmentation methods are just one part of broader strategies of generating policies, applying techniques, and designing effective interventions.

Segmentation and environmentally sustainable behaviours

Segmentation methods are widely used in environmental policy fields to help design behaviour change interventions, initiatives on reducing car use, more responsible water usage, domestic energy management, recycling, and buying local food. The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has developed a sophisticated segmentation model to inform public engagement activities in support of 'pro-environmental behaviours.¹¹¹ This segmentation exercise drew on existing models, and combined quantitative and qualitative methods to generate a model to understand people's behaviour and motivations.¹¹² The principle behind this exercise was that there was no single 'Joe Bloggs' position on environmental issues, and that segmentation methods are a means to better understand audiences and thereby design more effective policy.

The DEFRA segmentation model divides the public into seven clusters (See Figure 6). These seven segments each share a distinct set of attitudes and beliefs towards the environment, and are generated based on responses to attitudinal variables. 113

Figure 6: *DEFRA's segmentation model for proenvironmental behaviour.*¹¹⁴

- 1). Waste watchers 12%
- 2). Honestly disengaged 18%
- 3). Cautious participants 14%
- 4). Stalled starters 10%
- 5). Positive greens 18%
- 6). Concerned consumers 14%
- 7). Sidelines supporters 14%

As with other examples reviewed in this Research Synthesis, the DEFRA segmentation is oriented towards particular strategic objectives of this policy field. In this case, this is reflected in particular by a conceptual focus on identifying 'barriers to change'. DEFRA segmentation interprets the seven segments around *willingness* and *ability* to change behaviour in proenvironmental directions. This in part reflects a move beyond the assumption that pro-environmental behaviour correlates with knowledge of environmental issues that has underwritten previous information-led campaigns. This leads to the seven segments being clustered into two broad groups: 'low potential and unwilling' segments ('waste watchers', 'honestly disengaged', 'cautious

participants', and 'stalled starters'), and 'high ability and willing' segments (positive greens', 'concerned consumers', and 'sideline supporters'). The application of this interpretative frame on the segmentation model is used to inform a particular package of interventions, ones which focus on certain segments as being more significant than others in driving the shift to proenvironmental behaviours:

"It is apparent that segments 1, 2 and 3 have relatively high ability to act, though there are very different motivations and barriers particularly for segment 2 and this group are less willing to act to be more environmentally friendly at least. Segment 4 are more willing to act though currently relative beginners in terms of their behaviours. Segment 5's willingness to act is informed by their concerns about others' actions. Segment 6 and 7 are least willing to act. It is evident that each segment's willingness and ability to act, assessments of their potential to act and their beliefs, barriers and motivations have implications for the nature of the interventions that are likely to be most effective in encouraging higher levels of pro-environmental behaviour."¹¹⁷

The segmentation model is used as part of a differential strategy of public engagement, informed by models in which certain segments of the population are understood to be leaders or 'prime movers' in adopting new behaviours. The DEFRA segmentation model therefore informs a strategic reconceptualization of who can be motivated to live greener lifestyles, and how. It is used to assess which groups might be more willing and able to adopt certain behaviours, and which might be more reluctant or resistant. The emphasis on public engagement, in this case, remains however firmly on finding ways of better informing particular segments about specified practices they might adopt.

Research on public attitudes to environmental issues and climate change has also been undertaken in relation to transport policy by the Department of Transport (DoT). Segmentation methods are a key part of the strategic review of research on public attitudes to climate change and transport behaviour commissioned by the DoT in 2006. This research reviewed the use of market segmentation in transport and travel research, and the variety of segmentation models used. The main findings of this research are shown in Figure 7.

Two things are particularly noteworthy about the findings of this research review. First, segmentation and targeting are recommended primarily on efficiency grounds, in terms of both developing interventions which work and which also reduce costs. Second, there is an emphasis on the importance of developing seamentations which use psychographic variables to better understandings of motivational dynamics of behaviour change. For example, research on travel behaviours has used this approach to identify six segments of car users: Die Hard Drivers; Car Complacents; Car Aspirers; Malcontented Motorists; Car Sceptics; Aspiring Environmentalists; and Reluctant Riders. 118 Methodologically, this approach is based on the view that using sociodemographic variables to generate segments is too crude, and does not help identify the personal factors (such as moral norms, psychological attachment) which shape attitudes to, in this case, car use. The implication of this sort of approach is that interventions should seek to target the motivations and perceptions of different segments, rather than adopting 'one size fits all' approaches. 119

Two features of the DoT 2006 review of evidence on segmentation methods in transport policy therefore stand out.

First, the report makes the case for the greater use of market segmentation methods to enhance understandings of the ways in which different people are motivated by different factors and are affected differently by interventions. The emphasis is placed upon motivational segmentation. Since 2006 this approach to using segmentation has been applied to other transport issues, for example to motorcycle safety campaigns, in which segmentation methods were used to differentiate motorcyclists into seven segments on the basis of their motivations for riding: Performance disciples; Performance hobbyists; Riding disciples; Riding hobbyists; Car rejecters; Car aspirants; and Look-at-me enthusiasts. These segments are identified as holding different attitudes to safety risks and of where responsibility for ensuring safety lies. 120

Figure 7: Segmentation and Public Attitudes to Climate Change and Transport.¹²¹

- There is a general consensus that a staged and targeted strategy of travel behaviour change is likely to be more effective than a 'one size fits all' approach. However, research on how best to define target groups of travellers is in its infancy.
- Behaviourally-based interventions can be significantly more cost-effective than traditional service delivery, and targeting resources can enhance this efficiency. Segmentation allows a much richer assessment of resource requirements.
- Segmentation research starts from the premise that there is little point in addressing the *average* consumer, (or in this context, the average level of car dependence or attitudes to climate change). Instead, different people must be treated in different ways because they are motivated by different factors, experience different impediments to change and are affected in different ways by policy.
- The *same behaviour* can take place for different reasons and the *same attitudes* can lead to different behaviours.
- Segmentation allows easy wins to be targeted and will add value to existing programmes. The greatest potential for behaviour change is often at the margins, and this is invariably ignored in the design of transport policy.
- Travel behaviour research has almost exclusively applied *a priori* methods of segmentation based on age, income or some aspect of travel behaviour (high car user vs. low user). However, such segments are not necessarily homogenous in terms of *motivation* and attitudes are increasingly transcending demographic lines.
- The most informative and policy relevant segmentation studies use *post-hoc* research based on *psychographic* measurements to systematically analyse combinations of factors and define new categories of users. These are interpretable in terms of their attitudinal and aspirational profiles and their potential modal *switchability*.
- In the transport sector there have been very few attempts to define distinct mobility segments in a systematic and psychologically meaningful sense.
- Segmentation can be criticised for usually being cross-sectional and not modelling any process of social change. To address this, studies could be designed with the intention of developing an understanding over time of how the segments evolve in response to normative and contextual developments with respect to travel and climate change.

The second feature of the DoT review is the distinction it draws between the different sorts of public engagement which this sort of segmentation approach

can support: "segmentation is a cornerstone of any travel behaviour change programme, regardless of whether that programme is attempting to change behaviour by changing attitudes first or not." (emphasis added). The review contrasts those interventions which seek to directly influence behaviour by changing attitudes with attempts to change behaviour which do not purposely set out to change attitudes. This contrast cuts directly to a key question within this policy field, namely whether it matters that people have detailed understandings of the causes and consequences of, for example, climate change, in order to generate changed behaviours:

"With respect to influencing travel choices and closing this gap, the big question is: does it actually matter whether people have a detailed knowledge of the causes and consequences of climate change? It would appear that there are two opposing views on the importance of information in general with respect to its role in closing the attitude-behaviour gap:

- (i) Those that believe that if only people are informed and knowledgeable, they will act in accordance with this new knowledge (termed the 'deficit model');
- (ii) Those that believe that information is a necessary but not sufficient ingredient to encourage individual action. Advocates of this belief recognise the need to understand behaviour change from a number of different perspectives (anthropological, socio-psychological and economic) and at a number of different levels in society and strive for a more civic or deliberative ideal of public engagement. The evidence review suggests that this view is the emerging consensus."¹²³

There is an identifiable shift across environmental policy and sustainability fields away from 'deficit models' which assume that providing knowledge to people is a key to encouraging change, towards more rounded and inter-disciplinary approaches which engage at a number of different levels. 124 This latter approach is associated with the development of so-called 'Community Based Social Marketing' (CBSM). 125 CBSM adopts a more deliberative understanding of public engagement than other approaches to environmental behaviours. It is premised on evidence from social psychology and sociologies of practice which indicates that initiatives to change environmental behaviours work best when they involve direct engagement with people through collective forms of civic or community engagement. The same interdisciplinary approach is evident in the research of the SEGMENT programme, which investigates the use of market segmentation methods in encouraging the adoption of energy efficient forms of transport. This programme is premised on the assumption that certain 'life change moments', such as changing jobs, moving house, or becoming a parent, are the points at which established transport routines and travel habits can be most effectively targeted by marketing interventions to encourage behaviour change. 126

DoT research on segmentation methods is therefore notable for two reasons. First, it clearly indicates the conceptual and methodological differences between different approaches to segmentation. In the emphasis on psychographic or motivational variables in segmentation models of public attitudes to climate change and travel choices, this field illustrates the degree to which segmentation is used in contemporary public policy to help identify the differential susceptibilities or inclinations to change behaviour. ¹²⁷ In short, it clearly illustrates that segmentation methods are not value-neutral, and that adopting the appropriate segmentation method will be shaped by the overall strategic purpose for which they are intended. Second, transport research is noteworthy for making use of academic research on the importance of psychological factors, practices, and discourses in recommending the use of segmentation methods to

support more deliberative styles of public engagement than is often the case in other fields of environmental policy towards behaviour change. In this case, then, segmentation is recommended not only as a route to more effective targeting, but as part of a conceptual shift towards more contextually sensitive models of behaviour change. In this shift, segmentation is used to inform public engagement strategies which include deliberative or consultative activities. There is, in short, no single model of public engagement for behaviour change in which segmentation methods are located.

Segmentation in development communication

In contrast to the use of segmentation methods in public health or environmental sustainability fields, the use of segmentation by the Department for International Development (DfID) is not related to a form of public engagement with an easily observable 'output' in the form of changed behaviour. DfID has used segmentation to glean an understanding of public attitudes to development issues, as part of a communication-focussed model of public engagement. The objectives of public engagement in this case are to raise public awareness and increase public understanding of international development issues. DfID has conducted research monitoring public opinion on these issues since 1999. Since 2007, this research has been conducted by TNS, a leading private global market research company, having previously been conducted by the Office of National Statistics.

DfiD's segmentation model, first developed in 2008, identifies six segments amongst the population of the UK. They are differentiated by their attitudes and values towards poverty in poor countries. The six attitudinal segments are: Active Enthusiasts, Interested Mainstream, Distracted Individuals, Family First Sympathisers, Insular Sceptics and Disapproving Rejecters:

"Levels of awareness, understanding, concern, and support for the issues experienced by people in poor countries differ markedly by segment. Levels are typically higher among those in the priority segments (Active Enthusiasts, Interested Mainstream and Family First Sympathisers), of which Active Enthusiasts demonstrate the most engagement." 129

As with other examples of segmentation in the public sector we have reviewed in this section, this segmentation is used to inform a distinctive inflection to DfID's communications strategy. It informs the identification of 'priority segments', who are the three segments consisting of Active Enthusiasts, Interested Mainstream, and Family First Sympathisers. The DfID segmentation illustrates not just a differentiated approach to public communications, but a hierarchy of segments depending on levels of likely receptivity, support and engagement: "These results support a requirement for differentiated messages to engage the different groups." Furthermore, it is acknowledged that it is a challenge whether to seek to engage those in the 'Disapproving' segment at all.¹³¹¹ The 2008 segmentation model is now used in an ongoing way to show changes over time in levels of support for development issues across the different segments; and to assess and design effective 'messaging' around development issues.¹³¹¹

The DfID segmentation is indicative of a use of this methodology which is directed in part by the *legitimacy* imperatives of this organisation. A major concern shaping the application of this segmentation to the monitoring of public opinion and the design of public communication strategies is the need to sustain and build support for UK government funding of overseas development programmes. This is a feature of public engagement in the field of development and global poverty issues more broadly. Three reasons for public engagement are identified: it gives "the government and NGOs legitimacy to promote development on the

world stage"; it "strengthens NGO fundraising", enabling greater independence in service delivery from government funding; and "the public has an important role to play in responding to the challenge of poverty". DfID's segmentation model is deployed for strategies of public engagement around issues in which engagement is typically 'wide and thin', and where it is recognised that any deepening of engagement is not likely to include everyone. This is also a context in which segmentation is used to support public engagement strategies that draw not only on research on behaviour change but also on models of deliberative engagement. It is notable in this respect that the central objective addressed by the DfID segmentation – government spending on development aid to poor countries – is more contentious than the objectives in other fields, such as sustainability and pro-environmental behaviours.

Segmentation methods are used differently in relation to fields more amenable to 'Nudge'-style behaviour change interventions, in which the aim is to steer people towards adopting practices in support of issues around which there is a broad positive consensus; compared to fields in which issues and objectives are either more complex or contentious, in which more emphasis on deliberation and consultation and other 'technologies of elicitation' might be appropriate. The 'content' of the segmentations in these two versions is likely to be significantly different, given the specific disposition which is to be targeted – behaviour, attitudes, values, etc. In both cases, the aim of the segmentation methods is to generate relatively stable images of public attitudes and values, but as the increasing emphasis on 'motivational' factors indicates, these are produced with the aim of 'generating movement' – changing people's attitudes, increasing public support, altering behaviour, and overcoming barriers and impediments. Segmentation methods are not, then, merely 'descriptive' devices, they are normative in the sense that their design and application is always shaped by the broader purposes of public engagement strategies of which they are one aspect.

We have seen in this sub-section that the use of segmentation in social marketing is shaped primarily by the first of the four strategic rationales identified at the start of this section, that of changing behaviour. This is reflected in an emphasis on public engagement as a means of informing people of different practices and choices available to them. While other rationales and purposes of public engagement are evident in this field, they are much more visible in other fields of public engagement activity, which we now address in 4.ii). and 4.iii). But one important finding of this review of segmentation in social marketing is also observable in these other sectors – the increasing emphasis on developing segmentations that use so-called psycho-graphic variables to capture the dynamism of what 'moves and motivates' people to change existing behaviours and adopt news ones, identify with particular causes, or commit time and energy to particular causes.

ii. Segmentation in arts, culture, and heritage sectors

Segmentation methods are used extensively in the arts, culture, and heritage sectors, including Museums, Libraries, and Broadcasting. There is also a well established field of academic research on audience and visitor studies that is closely integrated into the management of cultural organisations. ¹³⁶ Public engagement in this field seeks to address various public subjects, such as 'patrons', 'visitors', and 'viewers'. This field is also one where the tensions between using segmentation methods to enhance the performance of institutions with formal commitments to open and universal access is an important issue.

There is a long-standing interest in cultural policy in using segmentation methods to establish marketing strategies for cultural institutions. The use of geodemographic profiling tools such as ACORN or Mosaic is widespread in arts and cultural marketing. More recently, the proliferation of market segmentation in the arts, culture, and heritage sectors has been encouraged by the influence of CRM practices, reflected in a shift from using simple demographic variables to focus on cultivating sustainable customer relationships with cultural audiences. In this field, segmentation has become a basic feature of strategies which seek to increase visitor numbers, increase the use of existing cultural infrastructures such as libraries and museums, and grow audiences. It has also become an important asset in developing more inclusive audience strategies which are responsive to the needs and interests of culturally diverse audiences.

Segmentation and public accountability

The BBC engages in a wide range of audience research, including research commissioned from private sector market research companies. ¹³⁹ Much of this research seeks to establish the degree to which the organisation is succeeding in delivering on the multiple imperatives that face it, of delivering 'public value' and being responsive to diverse audience tastes and need. This includes the use of segmentation methods to engage audiences with programming, but also the use of segmentation in broader strategies to engage people with BBC-led campaigns around, for example, environmental issues and climate change.

One feature of quantitative research informing the refinement of the BBC's 'public purpose remit' was the identification of certain groups who were relatively disengaged from the BBC. The findings of the public purpose remit consultation exercise in 2007 were in turn used to inform the BBC Trust's Audience Engagement Consultation, also undertaken in 2007. This wide ranging consultative process was used to develop detailed understandings of how people engaged with the BBC, and audience segmentation methods were used to establish the different relationships that different groups of people felt they had with the BBC and its services. The BBC's ongoing research on the delivery of this public purpose remit continues to use quantitative methodologies to assess the degree to which different audience segments approve of the organisations' performance. Research initiated in 2009 and published in 2010 as part of a Strategy Review was based on a distinctive model of audience segmentation: qualitative research was based on 'lifestage peer groups' established using demographic and socio-economic variables. The second control of the control of the control of the delivery of this public purpose remit continues to use quantitative methodologies to assess the degree to which different audience segments approve of the organisations' performance. The provided has been described using demographic and socio-economic variables.

The BBC's audience research uses demographic and socio-economic data to help keep track of the delivery of its remit to socially, geographically, and culturally diverse audiences. It is one example of a cultural organisation responding to the imperative of delivering universal principles of public value in the context of an increasing awareness of diverse audience tastes and interests. This is a defining feature of the growing use of segmentation methods in the arts, culture, and heritage sectors. Public engagement in this field is shaped by the concern with developing culturally *diverse* audience. Segmentation is understood as a means to enable organisations to be more inclusive by better understanding this diversity. And a key issue emerging in research in this field is whether demographic variables, such as socio-economic status, ethnicity, age or gender, are necessarily the best means of developing effective segmentations. 146

Segmentation and the strategic planning of communications

The importance of the definition of the variables used in segmentation exercises is illustrated by the Arts Council's recent initiatives on cultural diversity and audience development. Its 2006 guide for arts marketers identifies segmentation as a key resource, but one not without its difficulties. ¹⁴⁷ Not least of these is an acknowledgement that segmentation methods run the risk of giving the impression of classifying people into arbitrary categories 'behind their backs'. It also identified the same shift towards using psychographic variables that has been evident in other fields where segmentation methods are increasingly used:

"There are many ways to divide up a potential market. It used to be a case of chopping up audiences along the lines of geography, age, income and education. These are still of great use but finding commonality is not so simple anymore, partly due to the many choices now available to us all. Once you get past basic geographic or demographic distinctions, the psychographic stuff is where it gets really interesting. Here, looking at motivations, aspirations and actual behaviour of audiences can be fascinating." 148

This observation is based on the claim not only that audiences more diverse nowadays, but that identities are much less fixed than they once were. This conceptual and methodological shift is indicative of a more explicit recognition in arts marketing of the distinction between *profiling*, which refers to the description of an audience, and *segmentation*, which involves categorisation undertaken with the aim of taking action that has results and consequences. ¹⁴⁹ As in other sectors concerned with effective public engagement, amongst professional arts marketing organisations such as the Arts Marketing Association ¹⁵⁰, the use of CRM segmentation methods and psychographics has become increasingly prevalent.

In 2009, the Arts Council launched an extensive audience segmentation, a resource available to local arts and culture organisations to help them better plan and manage the delivery of their services. This segmentation is based on a distinctive approach which does not start with pre-existing socio-demographic segments, but adopts an 'arts-based' approach that is based on the assumption that different segments are characterised by distinct patterns of engagement, attitudes and motivations towards the arts. It is explicitly tailored for use in arts marketing, and seeks to understand socio-demographic and lifestyle factors from the perspective of engagement in the arts, not the other way around.

This conceptual and methodological focus on the motivations for engaging with the arts and culture is a distinctive feature of the use of segmentation in arts marketing, which increasingly eschews simple demographic profiling or categorical definitions of 'the arts' to focus instead on identifying 'interest strands' characterised by similar values, attitudes and concerns. The Arts Council's arts-based segmentation divides the population into thirteen segments. These thirteen segments are in turn aligned into three groupings according to their 'propensity to engage' (Figure 8). This is combined with geographical data-analysis to provide local level segmentations to different regions and areas of England. As with the case of the DH's Healthy Foundations segmentation, The Arts Council segmentation is designed as a resource to be used by local arts managers.

Figure 8: The Arts Council's (2009) arts-based segmentation and 'propensity to engage'

Highly Engaged (urban arts eclectics; traditional culture vultures)

Some Engagement (fun, fashion and friends; mature explorers; dinner and a show; family and community focused; mid-life hobbyists; bedroom DJs; retired arts and crafts)

Not Currently Engaged (time poor dreamers; a quiet pint with the match; older and home-bound; limited means, nothing fancy)

The BBC and the Arts Council are two examples of leading national-level organisations using quantitative methodologies to develop audience segmentations to support public engagement activities. They are part of a broader field of research, which also includes government departments such as the Department of Culture, Media and Sport, into public engagement with cultural practices, which tends to focus on four questions:

- 1. What kind of people visit, attend and participate in culture and who is missing?
- 2. What types of activity do they engage with and what is the crossover between them?
- 3. What motivates people to engage, and what prevents them?
- 4. How do people actually experience a particular cultural activity? 153

In relation to all four of these questions, research increasingly focussed on the motivations and barriers to attendance in cultural activities.¹⁵⁴ Segmentation methods are used in this field of policy and public engagement for three purposes:

- 1. To market effectively to existing markets to get people to come back, to re-attend or re-visit;
- 2. To design engagement activities that would be effective with different audience segments;
- 3. And to look for new audiences.

This is the dual emphasis on *finding* and *growing* audiences characteristic of the use of segmentation methods in contemporary arts marketing.¹⁵⁵

Segmentation and visitor and audience engagement

Research in arts and culture marketing overlaps with academic audience research in visitor studies, education, and cultural and media studies. The changing methodologies used to generate audience segmentations in these sectors is part of a broader process of reconceptualising audiences as dynamic, fluid, and diverse. For example, segmentation methods are widely used in the museum sector to better understand how to engage visitors, combining the informing and consulting dimensions of public engagement. For example, the British Museum segments its audiences according to their motivations for visiting the museum or a particular exhibition, identifying four types of motivation: social, intellectual, emotional and spiritual. 157

There are three issues which arise from the use of segmentation in arts, culture and heritage sectors.

First, segmentation methods are deployed in this field in response to a widely shared commitment to the value of inclusion. The aim of using segmentation is to inform broader and more sensitive public engagement strategies which are sensitive to cultural diversity and engage with socially excluded or under-served segments. For example, one of the high profile audience segmentation exercises in this sector has been undertaken by the National Trust. The initial impulse for this exercise was a response to the recognition that its audience was increasingly skewed towards particular, relatively elderly segments of the population. Since 2006, the National Trust has developed and implemented a sophisticated customer segmentation in partnership with private sector market research consultants. The application of this segmentation involves a negotiation of the National Trust's universal public remit to provide a service for the whole population with recognition of different levels of engagement. This is one example of the use of segmentation to inform the strategic planning of communications by an organisation in order to better engage with the public.

Second, there is an identifiable conceptual and methodological shift in this sector towards the use of segmentation systems which focus on attitudes, motivations and values, rather than simple profiles based on socio-demographic variables. This is reflected in the proliferation of segmentations which focus on the identities that characterise different segments. For example, the National Trust's segmentation is based on seven 'days out segments', defined by motivation and mindset: inner-directed; live life to the full; explorer family; out and about; young experience seekers; curious minds; kids first family; home and family. 161 As with other examples, these segments are not simply differentiated, but are aligned on a continuum according to the degree of propensity to engage with the National Trust's services - from the highly knowledgeable 'inner directed' and 'live life to the full' segments who are looking for challenging and stimulating days out; to the more risk adverse, mainstream 'home and family' and 'kids first family' segments at the other end of the scale. This field of public engagement has been highly receptive to new trends in market segmentation methodologies towards identity, motivations and lifestyles. 162 It should be noted, however, that there is a risk of embedding unacknowledged cultural norms into the design and interpretation of the resulting segmentations.

Third, it is worth emphasising that the most significant examples of segmentation exercises in the arts, culture and heritage sector have all been undertaken by significant national organisations, such as the BBC, the Arts Council, or the National Trust. As with the first two organisations, the National Trust's customer segmentation is designed to be applied in practice by local actors, providing a common frame of reference for marketing and communications activities by myriad local properties. Furthermore, this dimension of the use of segmentation does not only have consequences for how organisations engage with 'external' publics. Again, the National Trust segmentation illustrates a more general point about the significance of the use of marketing tools such as segmentation methods in non-commercial settings: an important reason for their adoption is to provoke changes in how organisations operate internally as well as how they engage publicly. In the case of the National Trust, the segmentation exercise is credited with producing "a cultural shift" within the organisation by introducing and embedding "a new customer-focus". 163

It should be re-emphasised that segmentation methods are not merely tools; they are one aspect of strategic models which have significant implications for the internal functioning of organisations adopting this repertoire of research methodologies. There is an absence of academic research examining the

significance of adopting strategic marketing strategies for the purposes of inclusive, culturally sensitive public engagement activities.

The emphasis on identity, motivations and lifestyles in the segmentation methods adopted in arts, culture and heritage sectors is part of a broader shift on how segmentation methodologies are being applied to public engagement activities. The emphasis on motivations reflects the more or less explicit influence in applied fields of marketing and public engagement of particular academic models of social psychology and personal identity. This influence is most clearly articulated in the field of 'values-modes' segmentation, which we discuss in the next section.

iii. Segmentation in campaigning

Campaigning is an aspect of public engagement in both social marketing and in the arts, culture and heritage sectors, but it is a more general field of activity beyond these areas. Building on the discussion in the previous sub-section, this sub-section discusses the latest trends in public segmentation, with an emphasis on the development of dynamic forms of segmentation which are attuned to 'values' rather than merely attitudes or behaviours. Values-based approaches to segmentation have been applied to public engagement campaigns by organisations such as Natural England and the Worldwide Wildlife Fund.

Values-driven segmentations are also increasingly used in social marketing and non-profit sector marketing, where there is recognition that values play an important role in shaping behaviour. ¹⁶⁴ For example, the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) has used segmentation methods to identify the key 'markets' for biodiversity. ¹⁶⁵ In this case, it is acknowledged that the segmentation approach "chosen by biodiversity communicators will inevitably vary according to the outcome they have in mind, and the data that is available. Any segmentation must be fit for its chosen purpose." The emphasis to emerge from the RSPB's communication strategy is on the importance of understanding segments in terms of attitudes, motivation, and values.

While this emphasis on values is widespread, a specific methodology called 'values-modes' segmentation has been developed which explicitly applies particular psychological models to segmentation methods. Developed by Cultural Dynamics Strategy and Marketing¹⁶⁶ and by Chris Rose of Campaign Strategy¹⁶⁷, this approach is increasingly being applied to public engagement strategies in the campaigning sector, especially around climate change issues.

This approach to segmentation is based on the psychological theory of personal motivations developed by Abraham Maslow. On this model, populations can be segmented according to unmet psychological *needs* which are assumed to drive behaviour. The values modes approach categorizes people into twelve separate psychological groups. This psychological understanding of what motivates people is then to divide the population into three psychological motivational groups: *pioneers* (who have inner directed needs and seek an ethical basis for life); *prospectors* (who have outer directed needs, and seek psychological rewards in status, fashion, and recognition by others); and *settlers* (who have sustenance driven needs, and who are cautious, protective, and seek security). This three-way division into motivation segments implies the adoption of different models of communication in pursuit of 'behaviour change' goals. Not only does this model inform an understanding of the different reasons and stimuli to which people will respond in adopting the same behaviour, but since pioneers lead, prospectors follow, and settlers then follow them in adopting new behaviours, then it follows

that different segments are ascribed different roles in the pursuit of any given public objective:

"Prospectors are a key group not generally reached by NGO campaigns and public agency communications efforts. Attracting their support, whether overtly or indirectly, may well make a significant difference to a campaigns success but is essential if the purpose is population-wide behaviour change. Prospectors dislike being told they are doing anything wrong, fear social censure and controversy and are early adopters rather than innovators. There are ways to get them to act on social issues, for example 'green' subjects but they need simple choice do/don't options which involve doing stuff better, getting 'the right stuff' or 'the right' experiences and being rewarded, not made to give something up." 168

The basic assumption behind this approach is that communications strategies should seek to align preferred behaviours with values, rather than seek to change these values.

The influence of this theory of psychological motivation is evident in other segmentations reviewed in this Research Synthesis, for example the National Trust's segmentation of customers. The values-modes methodology is notable, however, because it is explicitly informed by and informs a critical stance towards styles of behaviour-change and social marketing led segmentation developed by organisations such as DEFRA or the Energy Savings Trust.

From this alternative perspective, information does not drive behaviour, opinions and attitudes are shaped by behaviours rather than the other way round. Even where these approaches move beyond a focus on information and explanation, promoters of values-modes segmentation argue that these approaches still start from the assumption that in order to get people to do something different it is best to understand what they already do: "Most significantly, the 'values, attitudes and motivations' seem to be derived from assumptions made by the researchers, or explanations given by the 'respondents'. What this approach does not do, is to look first at motivation in order to segment populations." From this perspective, it is necessary to start from what motivates behaviour and "not observed or claimed or self explained behaviour." In claiming to 'start with people, and the motivations that drive behaviours', this approach invests considerable degree of authority in an a priori theory of deeply ingrained psychological needs.

The values modes approach has been developed explicitly as resource for campaigning organisations. It informs different strategies for different segments, depending on how different groups relate to issues. This model of audience segmentation model has been applied by political parties, by NGOs and by multinational organizations. As already indicated, it is increasingly used in public engagement campaigning around climate change and environmental issues. We look at three examples below.

Research undertaken on behalf of *Natural England* to inform its strategy for public engagement with undersea landscapes used the values modes approach. ¹⁷² This segmentation involved dividing the population into the three Maslowian needs groups, each containing four of the twelve values modes, of Inner Directed, Outer Directed and Security Driven. Again, it should be emphasised this model presumes that these groupings are reflective of deep, underlying beliefs and motivations. On this basis, it is found in turn that the three segments exhibit pronounced underlying differences in their desire to protect nature. The key findings of this segmentation is that building support for, in this case, marine

conservation issues requires more than information, which is likely to be inadequate or counter-productive. Rather, and 'indirect experiential approach' is recommended, one which engages positively with people's interests and concerns.

The second usage of the values mode segmentation approach worth noting is the IPPR's research on the mainstreaming of low carbon behaviours. This makes explicit the degree to which this approach emphases not just a differential communication strategy, but one which accords great 'agency' in driving change to particular segments. In this example, the values modes approach is used to identify a segment of 'Now People', Again, as indicated above, these correspond to the 'prospectors' segment, the key target group identified by theorists of the values modes approach:

"Now people seek psychological rewards in status, fashion, success, and the esteem and recognition of others. They tend to have a high level of motivation to consume, and their prominent position within social circles makes them a driver of fashions and trends, meaning that they are a particularly powerful subsection of the population when it comes to determining consumption-related behaviours." ¹⁷⁴

In the IPPR report, climate change communications is seen as not having effectively engaged this segment's values and concerns, and this is presented as a major impediment to the adoption of low carbon practices.

The third example of the use of values-based segmentation is the WWF's 2010 report, *Common Cause*.¹⁷⁵ This again starts from the premise that information-led strategies misunderstand the dynamics of behaviour and action by ascribing too much authority to evidence and knowledge. It draws on social psychology and sociological research on the role of values in motivating concern for 'bigger-than-self' issues, and theories of 'framing' to translate these theories into effective communications strategies that aim to activate and strengthen 'helpful values'. From the perspective of this Research Synthesis, what is most notable about the WWF report is the degree to which is explicitly raises the ethical issues that this values-based approach to segmentation generates, and which are not touched on in the existing literature on values modes segmentation:

"It is inescapably the case that any communication or campaign will inevitably serve to convey particular values, intentionally or otherwise. Moreover, in conveying these values, the communication or campaign will help to further strengthen those values culturally. People's decisions are driven importantly by the values they hold – frequently unconsciously, and sometimes to the virtual exclusion of a rational assessment of the facts. In particular, some values provide a better source of motivation for engaging bigger-than-self problems than other values. The conjunction of these two insights – that communications and campaigns inevitably serve to strengthen particular values, and that a person's values have a profound and usually unconscious effect on the behavioural choices that they make – raises profound ethical questions". 176

This is a highly relevant finding in the present context. The values modes approach to segmentation, while acknowledging the complexity of people's motivations and concerns, appeals to a particular theory of deep and underlying psychological causes. The WWF report, based on an ethics of transparency in public engagement, makes clear that this approach runs the risk of appearing 'manipulative' in so far as its application does not make clear the animating

intention of campaigns to engage with and transform people's values. This leads to a careful analysis of the strengths and limitations of market segmentation:

"Audience segmentation techniques can help here in establishing knowledge of a specific audience, such that approaches to encouraging public debate can be tailored to resonate with their needs and interests. But this must not lead to opportunism in appealing to whatever values are considered to be most important for a particular audience segment, irrespective of whether these values are helpful or not. [...] Audience segmentation however, can contribute to establishing what language and which metaphors are likely to be particularly effective in activating or strengthening helpful frames. That is, the language and metaphors needed to activate community feeling values may be very different for different audience segments – varying, for example, with cultural background or occupation".¹⁷⁷

This is a *modest* evaluation of the potential of segmentation methods to assist in what is an *ambitious* objective, to engage with and activate 'helpful' values rather than simply reinforce existing ones. Where the focus on 'prospectors' and 'Now People' aligns communications with a particular set of values that are assumed to coincide with a particular set of people, the WWF report assumes that all audience segments will have all the values identified in psychological models. The challenge, on this understanding, is to activate certain values, rather than necessarily focus on particular segments:

"Audience segmentation models, such as those in which several government departments and large non-governmental organisations have already heavily invested, are helpful. But rather than deploying these to tailor messages to an individual's dominant values, as these are revealed by survey work, they should be used to help tailor communications to resonate with dominant aspects of a person's identity in the course of working to strengthen *helpful* frames and values." ¹⁷⁸

In this example, the effectiveness of using motivational models of segmentation which recognise the importance of values is combined with an explicit acknowledgment that using segmentation methods in public engagement is one means to *change* what people do, how they do it, and why they think what they do is importance and valuable. This combination is expressed in the clear articulation of an ethics of transparency in developing public engagement strategies, one which in this case uses understandings of values to develop an inclusive image of transformation rather than a differentiating strategy that leaves in place and affirms a picture of fundamentally divided public.

Section 5 summary

- Academic research in particular fields informs the definition of variables used in segmentation exercises, and is used to evaluate the success of segmentation exercises in helping to meet public engagement objectives.
- Segmentation methods are used in public engagement activities as part of broader strategic rationales, including behaviour change, visitor engagement, campaigning, and planning of communications.
- Investigating the strategic rationalities and purposes of public engagement that segmentation methods have been used to support can provide useful analogies for the different strategic purposes driving debates about public engagement and higher education.

- The use of segmentation models in public engagement activities involves complex processes of data gathering and analysis.
- The use of segmentation methods is just one part of broader strategies of generating policies, applying techniques, and designing effective interventions.
- There is an identifiable shift away from thinking about public engagement in terms of a 'deficit model' aimed at better processes of informing people about issues and choices.
- Segmentation methods are used differently in relation to fields in which the aim is to inform people about practices they might adopt in support of issues around which there is a broad positive consensus, compared to fields in which issues and objectives are either more complex or contentious, where there is likely to be more emphasis on deliberation and consultation.
- While the aim of the segmentation methods is to generate relatively stable images of public attitudes and values, the increasing emphasis on 'motivational' factors indicates that segmentation methods are primarily deployed to 'generate movement': to change people's attitudes, increase public support, alter behaviour, and overcome barriers and impediments.
- Segmentation methods are not merely 'descriptive' devices; they are normative in the sense that their design and application is always shaped by the broader purposes of public engagement strategies of which they are one aspect.
- Across different fields of public engagement, the methodological and analytical emphasis in segmentation exercise is increasingly oriented towards the development of dynamic, motivational variables to generate segments.
- There is relatively little academic research which seeks to understand the proliferation of segmentation methods in public engagement contexts.
- There is little academic research comparable to that emerging in management studies and marketing theory which seeks to understand the practice of segmentation in public engagement contexts.
- There is an absence of research on the role and potential of segmentation methods in supporting the public engagement objectives of the higher education sector.

Conclusion: public segmentation and higher education

i. From market segmentation to segmenting publics

This Research Synthesis has traced the use of segmentation methods in a variety of fields, including commercial marketing, public sector management, and a variety of third sector activities. The increasingly widespread use of segmentation methods in public engagement activities provides important insights into the ways in which concepts of 'the public', of 'public communication', and 'engagement' have developed in the UK over the last three decades in particular. This is the period in which techniques and methodologies initially developed and applied in commercial marketing have been translated into new sectors, to noncommercial activities and to public engagement activities rather than marketing per se. The adaptability and flexibility of segmentation methods means that this technique is used in a wide variety of strategic projects where engaging publics is an animating imperative – whether the subjects of the public are conceptualised as users, consumers, clients, or citizens. Tracking segmentation methods is therefore an effective way of mapping the diversity of purposes in which public engagement activities are deployed.

The segmentation methods used in public engagement activities today have their origins in commercial marketing strategies, and the evolution of these techniques is closely related to developments in data collection and statistical analysis. In marketing theory, there has been a widespread normative assumption that effective segmentation enhances the performance of private businesses. Leading-edge research in management studies has moved beyond this assumption, to investigate the ways in which segmentation is used in practice.

The findings of this research are relevant to public engagement professionals because it indicates that the results of applying segmentation methods are far from straightforward or predictable. Furthermore, market segmentation is primarily concerned with differentiating and discriminating between different market segments (section 3.i). The appeal of segmentation methods to organisations faced with imperatives to target and personalise public services follows from this ability to differentiate groups in terms of their needs, interests, attitudes, and values. However, public engagement is by definition also shaped by imperatives of inclusiveness and universal access, and this is a key difference between the strategic contexts in which market segmentation and public segmentation is undertaken. The degree to which market segmentation methods can be appropriately applied in non-market contexts of public engagement will, therefore, depend in large part on the degree to which professional and organisational cultures are shaped by a coherent philosophy of 'public value' (section 4.ii).

The use of segmentation methods in public engagement is indicative of broader shifts in the way in which 'engagement' is conceptualised, as well as shifts in the purposes for which public engagement pursued. In both market segmentation and public segmentation, there has been a shift away from a focus on stable demographic variables of socio-economic status; in public engagement activities, this is indicative of a move away from a one-way, deficit-model of engagement in which communications strategies focus on the provision of information to people.

The increasing use of motivational variables, which differentiate audiences and publics on the basis of values, attitudes, and dispositions marks a significant shift in the ways in which public engagement is conceptualised. On the one hand, it is indicative of a move towards models of engagement that emphasise collaboration, partnership, and co-production, to enhance mutual learning between organisations and their publics. One the other hand, it should be acknowledged that the emphasis on motivational variables in segmentation exercises, part of a wider process in which sophisticated CRM methodologies are used to manage relationships with customers, audiences, and clients, is driven by an imperative to better understand the *susceptibilities to change* which define different groupings of people. As emphasised throughout this Synthesis, the use of segmentation methods in public engagement negotiates a difficult balancing act between aiming to respect and respond to the expressed needs, interests, and desires of members of the public, and aiming to change the behaviour, practices, and values of those same people.

With this tension in mind, the key issue to emphasise from the overview of segmentation methods in public engagement activities provided by this Synthesis is that segmentations are only as good as the theory that shapes the generation of data, the identification of variables used to cluster segments, and the interpretation of the segments that result. Evidence from management studies and marketing theory suggests that professionals in the commercial sector often lack the capacity to fully understand and shape segmentation exercises; the same issue is likely to be the case in the organisational settings in which segmentation methods are used for public engagement purposes.

Segmentation methods have become increasingly common features of government-led initiatives to engage members of the public with programmes that seek to enhance the public good or deliver social benefits. The growth of social marketing is the primary vehicle through which segmentation methods have become a key feature of government policy research and strategic planning (section 5.i). The primary model of public engagement in this field is based on the idea of informing people of choices and consequences, with the aim of generating aggregate outcomes through changing individual behaviour.

Segmentation methods have also become an important feature of the public engagement activities of a number of public bodies, charities, and social enterprises. Cultural organisations such as the BBC, the Arts Council, the British Museum, or the National Trust use segmentation methods to design public engagement activities which seek to increase audience size while also enhancing the experience of cultural services. In these sectors, segmentation is used to improve targeting of marginalised audiences with the aim of improving inclusivity, but also to enhance and sustain the position of organisations operating within competitive market and non-market fields of funding and finance (section 5.ii). And in the campaigning sector (section 5.iii), segmentation methods are used to identify those groups most likely to support particular campaigns and issues, whether as donors, volunteers, or supporters. In this field, as well as in the field of green, ethical and sustainable consumerism (section 4.i), segmentation methods are used to identify particular groups of people who are considered most likely to drive forward the changes identified as necessary to deliver some public benefit or social good.

This relationship between differentiating and targeting, enabled by segmentation methods, and the achievement of public outcomes is a fundamental tension within the field of public segmentation and public engagement – the use of segmentation methods is indicative of the more or less explicit assignment of agency to particular groups of people – as drivers of transformation, or as

impediments to change, or objects of intervention. It is this difficult relationship, inherent in the use of segmentation methods in public engagement contexts, which requires more sustained attention be given to the ethical issues raised by the proliferation of segmentation methods in shaping the public sphere.

Summary

- The Research Synthesis identifies existing academic and professional literature on segmentation methods, including academic management and marketing studies, critical social science, and social marketing; and professional and 'grey' literatures on the use of segmentation in a variety of fields of public engagement activity.
- The Research Synthesis outlines the key debates concerning the use of segmentation in public engagement activities. These include the shift towards using sophisticated motivational variables to identify segments; the theory/practice divide in academic literature on segmentation; and the importance of professional cultures and organisational capacities in explaining the proliferation and application of segmentation methods.
- The Research Synthesis highlights emerging trends in academic and non-academic discussions of segmentation and public engagement, including the importance of reflecting on the ethics of segmentation methods, the need for better evaluation of segmentation exercises, and the tensions between using segmentation to 'nudge' people towards change or using segmentation to engage people in 'talk' about issues and controversies.

ii. What sort of segmentation for what sort of public engagement?

Research on the use of segmentation methods in the higher education sector is underdeveloped. The aim of this Research Synthesis has been to identify the strategic rationalities and purposes of public engagement which segmentation methods have been used to support. These models provide **analogies** for the different strategic purposes driving current debates about public engagement in higher education, thereby enabling further questions and research problems about the use of segmentation in this sector to be developed.

The assumption behind this Synthesis is that higher education is a complex field, defined by multiple and competing models of 'the public good' to which Universities and other HEIs are expected to contribute. The public purposes of higher education might include goals of widening participation and social inclusion; contributing to economic growth through training of skilled graduates, supporting innovation, or generating intellectual property; sustaining a vibrant public culture through the dissemination of research and scholarship; contributing to the solution of public problems at local, national and global scales through understanding of disease, social inequality, or environmental processes; contributing to the economies and cultures of the localities in which HEIs are located. These and other roles played by HEIs illustrate that there are multiple 'stakeholders' who help define the public purposes of higher education – international scientific communities, private businesses, the public sector, local and national governments, global governance agencies, charities and NGOs, as well as citizens and the general public. 180

As already suggested, there is no single model of public engagement in which segmentation methods are deployed, but different models are used in different sectors or in relation to particular strategic purposes. The challenges and

imperatives facing HEIs in terms of public engagement are, therefore, likely to be overlap with those shaping the public engagement strategies in a number of sectors identified in this Research Synthesis. We have located the application of segmentation tools to public engagement activities as arising from three organisational imperatives which can be identified in different combinations in different fields:

- 1. Accountability: institutions in receipt of public funding or other support or with clearly defined public roles are increasingly expected to be more open, responsive, and transparent.
- 2. *Efficiency*: public organisations are under increasing pressure to improve the effectiveness with which they deliver their publicly mandated remit and services, not least in terms of ensuring effective targeting, response to 'personalised' needs, and enhancing social inclusion.
- 3. Legitimacy: public institutions have an imperative to sustain close relationships with customers, clients, and audiences upon whose support they depend, as well as maintain public support for their roles and responsibilities.

An assumption of this Research Synthesis is that each of these three imperatives is operative in the higher education sector, given the complexity of the contemporary University and other HEIs as a public actor. Identifying the different ways in which segmentation tools have been deployed as part of public engagement strategies to address these concerns in other sectors is relevant to assessing potentials and limitations of segmentation for public engagement benefit in higher education.

This Research Synthesis has tracked how each of the three organisational imperatives driving the application and translation of segmentation to public engagement activities in other sectors has generated different types of professional response, practical innovation and theoretical reflection. In particular, we have identified four broad models of the strategic rationales which shape the deployment of segmentation methods in public engagement activities:

- 1. Segmentation tools have been used to provide *better understandings of* and responses to public opinion, by developing better understandings of what members of the public do, think, value about the activities of an organisation.
- 2. Segmentation tools are increasingly used in initiatives to *understand* human behaviour and encourage behaviour change.
- 3. Segmentation tools are used as part of efforts to generate better understandings of the learning processes upon which successful engagement depends. This informs the consultative and collaborative design of engagement activities which seek to enhance and extend the experience and identifications of people with particular organisations or campaigns.
- 4. Segmentation tools are used to design programmes to improve engagement with members of the public, informing the strategic *planning* of communications projects.

This Research Synthesis has illustrated that particular examples of public engagement practice will use segmentation methods for more than one of these purposes at the same time. The role of segmentation in shaping the strategic planning of communications is a common feature of the use of segmentations in different areas, and is likely to be highly relevant to the higher education sector.

The use of segmentation in behaviour change initiatives, on the other hand, is likely to be of more restricted relevance in this sector.

Summary

- Research on the use of segmentation methods in the higher education sector is underdeveloped.
- Higher education is a complex field defined by multiple and competing models of 'the public good'.
- The challenges and imperatives of public engagement in higher education overlap with those shaping the public engagement strategies in a number of sectors identified in this Research Synthesis.
- This Research Synthesis identifies the strategic rationalities and purposes of public engagement which segmentation methods have been used to support in various sectors. These models provide analogies for the different strategic purposes driving current debates about public engagement in higher education.

iii. Challenges of using segmentation for public engagement in Higher Education

This Research Synthesis has identified a wide range of engagement activities in which segmentation methods play some role. These range from one-way deficit models of engagement premised on providing information to people, in which the assumption is often that the attitudes or knowledge of 'the public' is an obstacle which need to be overcome in order to achieve desired 'public' benefits; much more participatory, deliberative forms of engagement that seek to consult and collaborate with people to build sustained public identification with organisations and their public purposes. The definition of public engagement in higher education used by the NCCPE emphasises the importance of mutual benefit from any engagement activity:

"Public engagement describes the many ways in which higher education institutions and their staff and students can connect and share their work with the public. Done well, it generates mutual benefit, with all parties learning from each other through sharing knowledge, expertise and skills. In the process, it can build trust, understanding and collaboration, and increase the sector's relevance to, and impact on, civil society." ¹⁸¹

This Research Synthesis provides resources for assessing the ways in which segmentation tools might be used to enhance the various activities through which models of public engagement in higher education are implemented – activities that range from informing, to consulting, to collaborating. Key issues that arise from the use of segmentation in public engagement in other sectors are clearly relevant to higher education:

- 1. Understanding the opinions, values, and motivations of members of the public is a crucial feature of successful engagement. Segmentation methods can offer potential resources to help understand the complex set of interests and attitudes that the public have towards higher education.
- 2. There exist a number of existing segmentations which address many of the areas of activity found in Universities and HEIs. These include segmentations which inform strategic planning of communications; segmentations which inform the design of collaborative engagement

activities by Museums, Galleries, and Libraries; and segmentations that are used to identify under-represented users and consumers.

This Research Synthesis has emphasised that segmentation is, on its own, only a tool, used in different ways in different contexts. The broader strategic rationale shaping the application and design of segmentation methods is a crucial factor in determining the utility of segmentation tools. There are four issues of particular importance which emerge from the synthesis of research on segmentation in other fields which are of relevance to the higher education sector:

- Segmentation exercises are costly and technically complex. Undertaking segmentations therefore requires significant commitment of financial and professional resources by HEIs.
- The appropriate interpretation, analysis, and application of segmentation exercises also require high levels of professional capacity and expertise.
- Given 1. and 2. above, it should be acknowledged that undertaking a segmentation exercise has implications for the internal organisational operations of HEIs, not only for how they engage with external publics and stakeholders.
- Segmentation tools are adopted to inform interventions of various sorts, and specifically to differentiate and sometime discriminate between how groups of people are addressed and engaged. For HEIs, the ethical issues and reputational risks which have been identified in this Research Synthesis as endemic to the application of segmentation methods for public purposes are particularly relevant.

We close this Synthesis by identifying areas of possible future research, both into segmentation in public engagement in HEIs, and into the use of segmentation in the public sphere more broadly:

- Further research into how and why segmentation methods are translated across policy areas and professional fields.
- Further research into the practices of 'doing segmentation' in public engagement contexts, equivalent to leading-edge research on the practice of segmentation in commercial settings undertaken in management studies and marketing theory.
- Further research, assessment, and evaluation of the extent of the use of segmentation in HEIs.
- Further research and evaluation into the conceptual and methodological issues involved in using segmentation tools in public engagement activities, including research on the use and analysis of different forms of data and the implications of digitalization for the generation of sophisticated segmentations of motivations and values.
- Further research into how the applications of segmentations in public engagement activities are evaluated in practice.

7. References and resource

¹ See McDonald, M. and Dunbar, I. (2010). *Market Segmentation: How to do it, how to profit from it* (4th Edition). Goodfellow Publishers Limited.

² Personal Responsibility and Changing Behaviour: the state of knowledge and its implications for public policy http://cdi.mecon.gov.ar/biblio/docelec/dp4105.pdf

³ http://www.open.ac.uk/ccig/programmes/publics

⁴ Rose, N. 1999. *Powers of Freedom*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

⁵ Mahony, N., Newman, J., and Barnett, C. (eds.). 2010. *Rethinking the Public*. Bristol: Policy Press.

⁶ Barnett, C. 2008. Convening Publics: The parasitical spaces of public action. In: Cox, K., Low, M., and Robinson, J. (eds). *The SAGE Handbook of Political Geography.* UK: Sage Publications Ltd, pp. 403–417.

⁷ Newman, J. 2007. Rethinking 'the public' in troubled times: unsettling nation, state and the liberal public sphere. *Public Policy and Administration*, 22(1), 27–47. Mahony, N. 2010. Making democracy spectacular. *Representation*, 46(3), 339–352.

³ See:

http://www.academyofmarketing.org/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=130&Itemid=94.

⁹ Chartered Institute of Marketing. 2009. *How to grow through new and existing customers*. www.cim.co.uk/filestore/resources/10minguides/targetingcustomers.pdf

¹⁰ Chartered Institute of Marketing. 2005. *The Devil and the Deep Blue A, B or C:* Segmentation in the maturing marketplace.

http://www.cim.co.uk/resources/plansandstrategy/segmentation.aspx

 See Using Market Segmentation for Better Customer Service and More Effective Strategic Planning. CIVICTechnologies. November 2009. www.civictechnologies.com

¹² See Using Market Segmentation for Better Customer Service and More Effective Strategic Planning. CIVICTechnologies. November 2009, pp-5-6.

www.civictechnologies.com

13 http://www.crmtrends.com/analytics.html.

¹⁴ Cahill, D. J. 1997. Target marketing and segmentation: valid and useful tools for marketing. *Management Decision* 35(1), 10-13.

¹⁵ See M. Savage, E. Ruppert, and J. Law (2010). *Digital Devices: nine theses*. CRESC Working Paper No.86. Centre for Research on Socio-Cultural Change, University of Manchester and The Open University. www.cresc.ac.uk

¹⁶ Wills, G. 1993. Dividing and conquering: strategies for segmentation. 3(4), 36-46.

¹⁷ Bigné, J.E. and Andreu, L. 2004. Emotions in segmentation: an empirical study. *Annals of Tourism Research* 31, 682-696.

¹⁸ Vyncke, P. 2002. Lifestyle segmentation: from attitudes, interest and opinions, to values, aesthetic styles, life visions and media preferences. *European Journal of Communication* 17, 445-463.

19 http://thensmc.com/general-resources/glossary.html [accessed 25th October 2010]

²⁰ Kettenring, J.R. 2006. The practice of cluster analysis. *Journal of Classification* 23, 3-30.

²¹ See http://www.statsoft.com/textbook/cluster-analysis/

²² Bottomley, P. and Nairn, A. 2004. Statistical Sirens: Can Managers Be Lured Onto The Rocks by CRM Analytics. *International Journal of Market Research* 46, 171-187.

²³ Bottomley, P. and Nairn, A. 2003. Something approaching science? Cluster analysis procedures in the CRM era. *International Journal of Market Research* 45, 241-261.

²⁴ Blocker, C.P. and Flint, D.J. 2007. Customer segments as moving targets: integrating customer value dynamism into segment instability logic. *Industrial Marketing Management* 36, 810-822.

Dibb, S. 2001. New Millennium, new segments: moving towards a segment of one?
 Journal of Strategic Marketing 9(3), 193-213.

²⁶ Jenkins, M. and McDonald, M. 1997. Market segmentation: organizational archetypes and research agendas. *European Journal of Marketing* 31(1), 17-32.

²⁷ Wright, M. 1996. The dubious assumptions of segmentation and targeting. *Management Decision* 34(1), 18-24.

²⁸ ibid, 18.

²⁹ ibid., 30.

³⁰ Dibb, S., Stern, P., and Wensley, R. 2002. Marketing knowledge and the value of segmentation. *Marketing Intelligence and Planning* 20(2), 113-119.

³¹ ibid.

- Dibb, S. and Simkin, L. 2009. Implementation rules to bridge the theory/practice divide in market segmentation. *Journal of Marketing Management* 25, 375-396; Quinn, L. 2009. Market segmentation in managerial practice: a qualitative examination. *Journal of Marketing Management* 25, 253-272; Clarke, A.H. 2009. Bridging industrial segmentation theory and practice. *Journal of Business-to-Business Marketing* 16, 343-373.
- ³³ Tapp, T. and Hughes, T. 2008. Why 'soft science' is the key to regaining leadership in marketing knowledge. *European Journal of Marketing* 42(3-4), 265-278.
- ³⁴ Danneels, E. 1996. Market segmentation: normative model versus business reality. *European Journal of Marketing* 30(6), 36-51.
- ³⁵ Quinn, L. 2009. Market segmentation in managerial practice: a qualitative examination. *Journal of Marketing Management* 25, 267.
- ³⁶ Dibb, S. and Simkin, L. 2009. Implementation rules to bridge the theory/practice divide in market segmentation. *Journal of Marketing Management* 25, 393.
- ³⁷ Gandy, O. H. 2002. Audience segmentation: is it racism or just good business? http://www.waccglobal.org/en/20002-impunity-and-the-media/776- Audience-segmentation-Is-it-racism-or-just-good-business.html
- ³⁸ Gandy, O. H. (2001). Dividing practices: segmentation and targeting in the emerging public sphere. In L.Bennett and R. Entmann (eds.) *Mediated Politics: communications in the future of democracy*. Cambridge University Press, pp. 141-159.
- ³⁹ Ruppert, E. and Savage, M. 2009. *New Populations: scoping paper on digital transnactional data*. CRESC Working Paper No.74. Centre for Research on Socio-Cultural Change, University of Manchester and The Open University. www.cresc.ac.uk
- ⁴⁰ Danna, A. and Gandy, O.H. 2002. All that glitters is not gold: digging beneath the surface of data mining. *Journal of Business Ethics* 40, 373-386.
- ⁴¹ ibid, 145-146.
- ⁴² ibid., 157.
- ⁴³ Of course, historically public spheres have always been multiple rather than sibgular, internally divided by processes of pillarization, stratification, class cleavage, and other diverse networks of solidarity, identification and belonging. See http://publicsphere.ssrc.org/quide/differentiation-of-the-public-sphere/segmentation/
- ⁴⁴ Danna, A. and Gandy, O.H. 2002. All that glitters is not gold: digging beneath the surface of data mining. *Journal of Business Ethics* 40,384.
- ⁴⁵ Howard, P.N., Carr, J. N., and Milstein, T. J. 2005. Digital technology and the market for political surveillance. *Surveillance and Society* 3(1), 59-73.
- 46 See 'Taking Liberties? New uses of consumer data in the UK': http://www7.open.ac.uk/oubs/research/project-detail.asp?id=96
- ⁴⁷ ibid.
- ⁴⁸ Payne, D. and Trumbach, C.C. 2009. Data mining: proprietary rights, people and proposals. *Business Ethics* 18(3), 241-252.
- ⁴⁹ Harrison, P. and Gray, C. 2010. The ethical and policy implications of profiling 'vulnerable' customers. *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 34, 437-442.
- ⁵⁰ Gandy, O. H. (2001). Dividing practices: segmentation and targeting in the emerging public sphere. In L.Bennett and R. Entmann (eds.) *Mediated Politics: communications in the future of democracy*. Cambridge University Press, pp. 146.
- ⁵¹ See http://www.cresc.ac.uk/our-research/cross-theme-research/social-life-of-methods
 There is an extensive literature on the agency of calculative technologies in the formation of publics and social worlds. See for example: Osborne, T. and Rose, N. 1999. Do the social sciences create phenomena? The example of public opinion research. *British Journal of Sociology* 50, 367-396.
- ⁵² Gleadle, P, Cornelius, N., and Pezet, E. 2008. Enterprising selves: how governmentality meets agency. *Organization* 15, 307-313.
- Nayak, A. and Beckett, A. 2008. Infantalized adults or confident consumers? Enterprise discourse in the UK retail banking industry. *Organization* 15, 407-425.
- Mosse, B. and Whitley, E. A. 2009. Critically classifying: UK e-government website benchmarking and the recasting of the citizen as customer. *Information Systems Journal* 19, 149-173.
- ⁵⁵ Cornelius, N., Gleadle, P., and Pezet, E. 2008. Afterword: segmentation, reorientation and new exclusions. *Organization* 15, 463-465.
- ⁵⁶ See Randle, M. and Dolnicar, S. 2009. Not just any volunteers: segmenting the market to attract the high contributors. *Journal of Nonprofit and Public Sector Marketing* 21,

- 271-282; RSM Robson Rhodes. 2006. *UK Charities Marketing survey*. http://www.cass.city.ac.uk/cce/pdf_files/charity_mktq_survey.pdf
- ⁵⁷ Sparrow, N. and Truner, J. 2001. The permanent campaign: the integration of market research techniques in developing strategies in a more uncertain political climate. *European Journal of Marketing* 35, 984-1002.

⁵⁸ Smith, G. and Hirst, A. 2001. Strategic political segmentation: a new approach for a new era of political marketing. *European Journal of Marketing* 35, 1058-1073.

- ⁵⁹ Bannon, D. 2003. Voting, non-voting and consumer buyer behaviour: non-voter segmentation and the underlying causes of electoral inactivity. *Journal of Public Affairs* 3(2), 138-155.
- ⁶⁰ Rees, P. and Gardner, H. 2005. Political marketing segmentation: the case of UK local government. *Journal of Nonprofit and Public Marketing* 14(1/2), 169-184.
- ⁶¹ See Barnett, C., Cloke, P., Clarke, N., and Malpass, N. 2011. *Globalizing Responsibility:* the political rationalities of ethical consumption. Wiley-Blackwell.
- 62 http://www.guardian.co.uk/advertising/display-research-green-light-sustainability;

63 See:

http://www.utalkmarketing.com/Pages/Article.aspx?ArticleID=2741&Title=Green Consumer, Green Citizen?

64 http://fluido.files.wordpress.com/2007/10/greenlight.pdf

65 http://www.guardian.co.uk/advertising/display-research-green-light-sustainability

http://www.carboncommentary.com/2007/10/01/21

67 http://www.nmisolutions.com/lohasd_segment.html

68 http://www.nmisolutions.com/lohasd_segment.html

- ⁶⁹ See T. Newholm. ND. Ethical Behaviour Segmentation Model. http://www.managingchange.com/sim/ethical.htm; Moore, G. 2004. The Fair Trade Movement: parameters, issues and future research. *Journal of Business Ethics* 53, 73-86. IGD Consumer Research. 2008. *Are UK Shoppers Turning Green?* Available online at: <a href="http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&fid=2&sid=2&cid=214http://www.igd.com/index.asp?id=1&f
- ⁷⁰ 2006. http://www.sd-commission.org.uk/publications/downloads/I Will If You Will.pdf
 ⁷¹ http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/business/Business/Local-Authorities/Engaging-

the-public/Engaging-residents

- ⁷² IPPR. 2007. Engagement and political space for policies on climate change: A Report for the Sustainable Development Commission. http://www.sd-
- $\frac{commission.org.uk/publications/downloads/Engagement\ for\ change\ Engagement.pdf}{ibid.\ 18.}$

⁷⁴ ibid, 19.

- ⁷⁵ Newman, J. and Clarke, J. 2009. *Publics, politics and power: Remaking the public in public services.* London: Sage.
- Walsh, K. Citizens and consumers: marketing and public sector management. *Public Money and Management* 11(2), 9-16.
- Moore, M. 1997. Creating Public Value: Strategic Management in Government. Harvard University Press.
- Mathieson, S. A. 2009. Dealing in Futures. The Guardian. http://www.guardianpublic.co.uk/capgemini-roundtable-service-delivery [accessed 2nd March 2010].
- ⁷⁹ Linder, J. C. and Brooks, J. D. 2004. *Transforming the Public Sector*. http://www.accenture.com/NR/rdonlyres/AE026A81-2D03-4C27-9C0C-72061434C9A7/0/government.pdf
- ⁸⁰ IPPR and PWC. 2010. *Capable Communities Public Service Reform: The next chapter*. http://www.ippr.org.uk/publicationsandreports/publication.asp?id=727
- Longley, P. Geographical Information Systems: a renaissance of geodemographics for public service delivery. *Progress in Human Geography* 29, 57-63.
- 82 http://www.iips.org.uk/pages/our mission.html
- 83 http://www.iips.org.uk/pages/events.html
- http://www.iips.org.uk/pages/service transformation offers.html
- 85 See http://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/what/purposes-of-engagement
- ⁸⁶ NSMC. *Effectively engaging people: Interviews with social marketing experts*, p. 19. http://www.snh.org.uk/pdfs/sgp/A328465.pdf
- ⁸⁷ Kotler, P. and Andreasen, A. 1996. *Strategic Marketing for Nonprofit Organizations*. Prentice-Hall.

- ⁸⁸ Adapted from 'Social Marketing' *OpenLearn*, The Open University: http://openlearn.open.ac.uk/mod/oucontent/view.php?id=397437§ion=1.4.3
- ⁸⁹ MacFadyen,L., Stead, M., Hastings, G. 1999. A Synopsis of Social Marketing. http://www.ism.stir.ac.uk/pdf docs/social marketing.pdf
- ⁹⁰ Boyce, T., Robertson, R., and Dixon, A. 2008. Commissioning and Behaviour Change: Kicking Bad Habits final report. http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/kbh final report.html
- ⁹¹ Andreasen, A. R. 2002. Marketing social marketing in the social change marketplace. Journal of Public Policy and Marketing 21(1), 3-13.
- ⁹² Walsh, G., Hassan, L.M., Shiu, E., Andrews, J.C., Hastings, G. 2008. Segmentation in social marketing. European Journal of Marketing 44, 1140-1164.
- 93 NorthWest Public Health Observatory. 2006. Synthesis No. 6: Social Marketing. http://www.nwph.net/nwpho/publications/Synthesis 6 Socialmarketing.pdf

94 http://thensmc.com/

- 95 See for example: http://interim.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/media/208786/section01.pdf; http://www.lga.gov.uk/lga/aio/37774; http://www.education.gov.uk/publications//eOrderingDownload/Segmentation-Parent.pdf
- 96 NSMC. 2007. Big Pocket Guide: Social Marketing. http://www.snh.org.uk/pdfs/sqp/A328463.pdf

⁹⁷ Ibid.

- ⁹⁸ Kotler, P, and Armstrong, G. 2008. *Principles of Marketing* (12th Edition). Prentice-Hall, p. 5.
- 99 http://openlearn.open.ac.uk/mod/oucontent/view.php?id=397437§ion=1.2.1
- ¹⁰⁰ Grier, S., and Bryant, C.A. 2005. Social marketing in public health. *Annual Review of* Public Health 26, 319-339.
- 101 Jones, S.C., Waters, L., Holland, O., Bevins, J., and Iverson, D. 2010. Developing pandemic communication strategies: preparation without panic. Journal of Business Research 63(2), 126-132.
- ¹⁰² Walsh, D.C., Rudd, R.E., Moeykens, B.A., and Moloney, T.W. 1993. Social Marketing for Public Health, Health Affairs 12(2), 112.
- 103 Slater, M.D., and Flora, J.A. 1991. Health lifestyles: audience segmentation analysis for public health interventions. Health Educational Quarterly 18(2):221-33.
- ¹⁰⁴ Department of Health 2008. What is social marketing? Department of Health 2008. Ambitions for health: A strategic framework for maximising the potential of social marketing and health-related behaviour. www.dh.gov.uk/publications
- ¹⁰⁵ Background to Healthy Foundations Life-Stage Segmentation Model. www.dh.qov.uk/publicationshttp://info.cancerresearchuk.org/prod_consump/groups/cr_c ommon/@nre/@hea/documents/generalcontent/cr 045216.pdf
- Department of Health 2008. Healthy Foundations: A segmentation model. www.dh.gov.uk/publications
 107 ibid.

- http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/current_projects/kicking_bad_habits/
- ¹⁰⁹ Background to Healthy Foundations Life-Stage Segmentation Model. http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/prod_consump/groups/cr_common/@nre/@hea/docum ents/generalcontent/cr 045216.pdf
- ¹¹⁰ Boyce, T., Robertson, R., and Dixon, A. 2008. Commissioning and Behaviour Change: Kicking Bad Habits final report.
 - http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/kbh final report.htmlhttp://www.kingsfund.or g.uk/publications/kbh final report.html, p.11.

http://www.defra.gov.uk/evidence/social/behaviour/

- ¹¹² DEFRA 2007. 2007 Survey of Public Attitudes and Behaviours Toward the Environment http://www.defra.gov.uk/evidence/statistics/environment/pubatt/download/pubattsum2 007.pdf
- 113 DEFRA 2007. 2007 Survey of Public Attitudes and Behaviours Toward the Environment http://www.defra.gov.uk/evidence/statistics/environment/pubatt/download/pubattsum2
- 114 DEFRA. 2008. A Framework for Pro-Environmental Behaviours: Report, pp.41-46. http://www.defra.gov.uk/evidence/social/behaviour/documents/behaviours-jan08-
- report.pdf

 115 Shove E, 2010. Beyond the ABC: climate change policy and theories of social change.

- ¹¹⁶ Muckle, R. 2007. *Development of a Pro-Environmental Behaviour Framework*
- http://www3.surrey.ac.uk/resolve/seminars/Rachel%20Muckle%20Slides.pdf
- DEFRA. 2008. A Framework for Pro-Environmental Behaviours: Report, p.41.
 See Anable, J. Complacent Car Addicts' or 'Aspiring Environmentalists'? Identifying travel behaviour segments using attitude theory. Transport Policy, 12, 65-78.
- ¹¹⁹ Anable, J., Lane, B., and Kelay, T. 2006. *An Evidence Base Review of Public Attitudes to Climate Change and Transport Behaviour*. Department of Transport, p. 129.
- http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/roadsafety/research/rsrr/theme2/attitidestosafety/
- ¹²¹ Anable, J., Lane, B., and Kelay, T. 2006. *An Evidence Base Review of Public Attitudes to Climate Change and Transport Behaviour*. Department of Transport, p. 119.
- http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/sustainable/areviewofpublicattitudestocl5731?page=5#a1005

 123 Anable, J., Lane, B., and Kelay, T. 2006. *An Evidence Base Review of Public Attitudes to Climate Change and Transport Behaviour*. Department of Transport, p. 62-63.
- ¹²⁴ Jackson, T. (2005). *Motivating Sustainable Consumption: a review of evidence on consumer behaviour and behaviour change*. A report to the Sustainable Development Research Network.
- ¹²⁵ McKenzie-Mohr, D. 2000. Fostering sustainable behaviour through community-based social marketing. *American Psychologist* 55(5), 531-537. See: http://www.cbsm.com/public/world.lasso
- http://www.segmentproject.eu/hounslow/segment.nsf
- Developing a Segmentation model of public attitudes to climate change and travel choices

http://www.dft.gov.uk/rmd/project.asp?intProjectID=12680

- ¹²⁸ See Department of Transport. 2009. *Nine Big Questions about Behaviour Change*. Simon Christmas Ltd. http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/scienceresearch/social/behaviour-changes/pdf/questions.pdf; http://www.aber.ac.uk/en/media/evidence-from-time-spaces-of-soft-paternalism.pdf
- 129 DFID. 2008. Public Attitudes Towards Development: TNS Report prepared for COI on behalf of the Department for International Development, p. 14.
 - http://collections.europarchive.org/tna/20100423085026/http://www.dfid.gov.uk/About -DFID/Finance-and-performance/Public-opinion-research/
- ¹³⁰ DFID 2010. Public Attitudes Towards Development. Spring 2010. TNS Report Prepared for COI on behalf of the Department for International Development, p. 38. http://www.dfid.gov.uk/About-DFID/Finance-and-performance/Public-opinion-research/
- ¹³¹ DFID 2010. Public Attitudes Towards Development. Spring 2010. TNS Report Prepared for COI on behalf of the Department for International Development. http://www.dfid.gov.uk/About-DFID/Finance-and-performance/Public-opinion-research/
- Hogg, M. and Shah, H. 2010. Engaging the public in tackling global poverty., p. 2. http://www.dea.org.uk/resources/item.asp?d=3330
- DEA 2010. DEA submission to the House of Lords Science and Technology Select Committee inquiry into behaviour change.
 - http://www.dea.org.uk/resources/item.asp?d=3315; Andersson, E., Burall, S., and Fennell, E. 2010. *Talking for a Change: A distributed dialogue approach to complex issues*.
- ¹³⁴ Lezaun, J. and Soneyrd, L. 2007. Consulting citizens: technologies of elicitation and the mobility of publics. *Public Understanding of Science* 16, 279-297.
- ¹³⁵ ibid., 292-293. See also Domegan, C.T. 2008. Social marketing: implications for contemporary marketing practices. *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing* 23(2), 135-141; Braun, K. and Schultz, S. 2010. "... a certain amount of engineering involved": Constructing the public in participatory governance arrangements. *Public Understanding of Science* 19, 403-419.
- Dawson, E. and Jensen, E. 2011. Contextual approaches to visitor studies research: evaluating audience segmentation and identity-related motivations. *Visitor Studies*. In Press.
- ¹³⁷ Sexton, D.E., Britney, K. 1980. A behavioral segmentation of the arts market. Advances in Consumer Research 7, 119-120; DiMaggio, P, Useem, M., and Brown, P. 1978. Audience Studies of the Performing Arts and Museums. Washington D.C.: National Endowment for the Arts.
- ¹³⁸ Sharrock, L. 2008. A Guide to Desk Researching Audiences and Visitor Data.

```
http://www.audiencesuk.org/data-and-resources/resources/desk-research
139 See http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/our_work/audience_research/index.shtml
140 See
  http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/assets/files/pdf/consult/purpose remits/responses/audie
  nce research.pdf
<sup>141</sup> See <a href="http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/about/how">http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/about/how</a> we govern/purpose remits/index.shtml
  http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/assets/files/pdf/consult/audience_engagement/quantitati
  ve research.pdf
<sup>143</sup> See
  http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/assets/files/pdf/review report research/ara2009 10/pur
pose remits uk.pdf
144 See
http://www.bbc.co.uk/bbctrust/our work/strategy review/supporting evidence.shtml <sup>145</sup> Maitland, H. 2006. How to develop a culturally diverse audience. Journal of Arts
  Marketing 21. http://www.heathermaitland.co.uk/2006/04/developing-a-culturally-
  diverse-audience/
<sup>146</sup> Maitland, H. 2005. How can marketers respond to cultural identity? Journal of Arts
  Marketing 18. http://www.heathermaitland.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2009/08/Cultural-
  identity-and-segmentation-Jul-2005.pdf
<sup>147</sup> Maitland, H. (ed.). 2006. Navigating difference: cultural diversity and
  audience development. London: Arts Council.
  http://www.artscouncil.org.uk/publication_archive/navigating-difference-cultural-
  diversity-and-audience-development/
<sup>148</sup> M. Larsen. 2006. Classified information. In H. Maitland (ed.), Navigating Difference, pp.
  168-176.
<sup>149</sup> Raines, K. 2008. Customer Profiling and Segmentation Tools.
  http://www.audiencesuk.org/data-and-resources/resources/profiling-and-segmentation
150 http://www.a-m-a.org.uk/
<sup>151</sup> See <a href="http://www.artscouncil.org.uk/about-us/research/arts-based-segmentation-">http://www.artscouncil.org.uk/about-us/research/arts-based-segmentation-</a>
  research/
152 See 'Segmentation in practice: getting started'. http://www.a-m-
  a.org.uk/casestudy.asp?id=124
<sup>153</sup> Maitland, H. 2008. How do the public engage with culture? Journal of Arts Marketing
  30. http://www.heathermaitland.co.uk/2008/06/public-engagement/
http://www.culture.gov.uk/what we do/research and statistics/4828.aspx
Baker, T. 2000. Stop Re-inventing the Wheel: A guide to what we already know about
  developing audiences for Classical Music. Association of British Orchestras.
156 Stylianou-Lambert, T. 2010. Re-conceptualizing museum audiences: power, activity,
  responsibility. Visitor Studies 13(2), 130-144.
157 See http://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/xerxes-mazda
<sup>158</sup> Futterman, M. 2008. Finding the under served. Library Journal, October 15<sup>th</sup>, pp. 42-
<sup>159</sup> See http://www.lateralthinkers.com/nationaltrust.html
<sup>160</sup> Irvine, L. 2010. 'For ever, for everyone'. Presentation at Audience Segmentation:
  identifying and understanding your visitors. Visitor Studies Group AGM, London, January.
  http://www.visitors.org.uk/node/372
<sup>161</sup> ibid.
<sup>162</sup> Todd, S. and Lawson, R. 2001. Lifestyle segmentation and museum/gallery visiting
  behaviour. International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing 6(3), 269-
<sup>163</sup> See <a href="http://www.lateralthinkers.com/nationaltrust.html">http://www.lateralthinkers.com/nationaltrust.html</a>
<sup>164</sup> Raval, D. and Subramanian, B. 2004. Cultural values driven segmentation in social
  marketing. Journal of Nonprofit and Public Sector Marketing 12(2), 73-85; Bright, A.D.,
  Manfredo, M.J., Fulton, D. 2000. Segmenting the public: an application of value
  orientations to wildlife planning in Colorado. Wildlife Society Bulletin 28(1), 218-226.
<sup>165</sup> RSPB. 2003. Communicating Biodiversity. http://www.beyond-
```

branding.com/BrandingBiodiversity.pdf

166 http://www.cultdyn.co.uk/valuesmodes.html
167 http://www.campaignstrategy.org/index.php
168 Rose, C. and Dade, P. *Using Values Modes*, p. 4.

http://www.campaignstrategy.org/articles/usingvaluemodes.pdf

67

¹⁷⁰ International Values Outline Campaign Planner.

http://www.campaignstrategy.org/articles/int_values_campaign.pdf

- ¹⁷¹ Rose, C., Dade, P., Gallie, N., and Scott, J. 2005. *Climate Change Communication:* Dipping a toe into public motivation.
- http://www.campaignstrategy.org/valuesvoters/climatechangecommunications.pdf
 https://www.campaignstrategy.org/valuesvoters/climatechangecommunications.pdf
 <a href="https://www.c
 - http://landscapecharacter.org.uk/files/u1/Qualitative-quantitative-research-undersea-landscape.pdf
- ¹⁷³ Platt, R. and Retallack, S. 2009. *Consumer Power: How the public thinks lower-carbon behaviour could be made mainstream*. IPPR.
 - http://www.ippr.org.uk/members/download.asp?f=%2Fecomm%2Ffiles%2Fconsumer%5Fpower%2Epdfhttp://www.ippr.org.uk/members/download.asp?f=%2Fecomm%2Ffiles%2Fconsumer%5Fpower%2Epdf

¹⁷⁴ ibid, p. 4.

- http://assets.wwf.org.uk/downloads/common cause report.pdf
- ¹⁷⁶ ibid., p. 8.
- ¹⁷⁷ ibid., p. 74.

¹⁷⁸ ibid.

- ¹⁷⁹ Rhoten, D. R. and Calhoun, C. (eds.) 2011. *Knowledge Matters: The Public Mission of the Research University*. New York: SSRC/Columbia University Press.
- ¹⁸⁰ Benneworth, P. and Jongbloed, B. 2009. Who matters to universities? A stakeholder perspective on humanities, arts and social sciences valorisation. *Higher Education* 59:5, 567-578; Jongbloed, B., Enders, J., & Salerno, C. 2007. Higher education and its communities: Interconnections, interdependencies and a research agenda. *Higher Education*, 56:3, 303-324.
- 181 http://www.publicengagement.ac.uk/what

Rose, C., Dade, P., and Scott, J. 2007. Research Into Motivating Prospectors, Settlers and Pioneers To Change Behaviours That Affect Climate Emissions, pp. 1-2. http://www.campaignstrategy.org/articles/behaviourchange_climate.pdf

National Co-ordinating Centre for Public Engagement

The National Co-ordinating Centre for Public Engagement's vision of a higher education sector making a vital, strategic and valued contribution to 21st-century society through its public engagement activity. We are working to help support universities to improve, value and increase the quantity and quality of their public engagement and embed it into their core practice.

The NCCPE is part of the National Beacons for Public Engagement initiative, funded by the UK Higher Education Councils, Research Councils UK and the Wellcome Trust.

The six Beacons are university-based collaborative centres that help support, recognise, reward and build capacity for public engagement work, based in: Newcastle and Durham, Manchester, CUE East UEA, UCL, Wales and Edinburgh.